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NO EXHIBITS INTRODUCED

i.D.

EVD.
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THE COURf: Mr. Hayes, you represent Mr. Davis in
these matters?

MR. HAYES: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Have you had an opportunity to discuss
with your client the charges pending against him, the
possible punishment that he faces and his
constitutional rights?

MR. HAYES: I have, Your Honor.

THE COURT: - Do you believe he understands the
discussions you have had with him?

MR. HAYES: 1 do.

THE COURT: Have you reviewed with your client all
the State's evidence.

MR. HAYES: .I have.

THE COURT: Based upon your investigation of all
the facts and circumstances do you believe the State
could present sufficient evidence to convince the jury
of his guilt beyond any reasonaple doubt if a trial
were held his conviction would be most probable.

MR. HAYES: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Davis, how old are you sir?

THE DEFENDANT: Thirty-two.

THE. COURT: Thirty-two. Are you married sir?

THE DEFENDANT: No, but I am in a relationship

with my girlfriend right there.
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FHE COURT: Do you have children?

?THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir, I've got five.

}THE COURT: How old are your children?

THE DEFENDANT: I got two that are twelve. I got

two that is six, and I got one that is nine.

FHE COURT: How far did you go in school Mr.

Davis?

THE DEFENDANT: ‘I didn't graduated but I do got my
GED.
‘THE COURT: - Where did you attend high school?
THE DEFENDANT: At Rock Hill

THE COURT: What grade were you in wheﬁ you
droﬁped out.

THE DEFENDANT: 11th grade.

THE COURT: What type of work have you primarily

|
done since you ever been out of school?

THE DEFENDANT: TLike warehouse work right now. I
i
was lworking at Family Dollar Distribution Center at

the}warehouse.‘

|THE COURT: When did you last worked there.

iTHE DEFENDANT: I am curréntly working there now.

|
}THE COURT: How long have you worked there?
|

}THE DEFENDANT: Almost three months.

THE COURT: What kind of work did you do before
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THE DEFENDANT: I.cut hair and mow lawhs.

THE COURT: ..Have yoﬁ ever had any treatmeht for
alcohol. or drug abuse in the past?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: All right. Do you have any physical
or mental problems that would interfere with you
ability to understand what we are doing here today?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.
THE COURT: Do you have any prescription drugs that
you take?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: Do you have any substance in your body

. today?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir,
THE COURT: So you are aware of what we are here
for and what these charges are about?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir. .

'THE COURT: Now, I have Indictments that state
that here in York County, on or about April the 5tﬁ,
you of 2013 you districted some marijuana. Also on
that same date when that distribution was made you
were within a half mile radius of Clinton Junior

College, that being a private or public school. Are

you pleading guilty today to those two charges; the

distribution and the proximity to the school on April
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| 6
the bth, or on or about April the 5th?
\

Are yoh pleading guilty to that.
i _

iTHE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

fHE COURT: You got to speak up. The court

repoFter has got to pick up everything you say and

ever&thing I say.

|

FHEADEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: And also in April, on or about the
16th‘of this April, the Indictment says that you were
in pLssession of a quéntity of marijuana. Are you
pleading guilty to that today also.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Then I have an Indictment that says on
or about March the 8th of 2013, you again distributed
marijuana here in York County and that again was

Within~proximity of Winthrop University being, within

halﬁ mile radius of that educational facility. Are
you%pleading guilty to that as well today? |

iTHE DEFENDANT: Yes.

%THE COURT: All right; solicitor, I will beAglad
to %ear about the background facts of the case.

iMS. DESCH: Thank you, Your Honor. Your Honor on
March 8 at approximately 3:51 p.m. the officer from
the /drug enforcement unit here in York County met with

a c%nfidential informant. That confidentilal informant
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told the drug enforcement unit that he could buy
marijuana by a person known as Mack who lived in a
house on Stewart Avenue and Rose Street near Winthrop
University.. They set up a deal. In doing so when
they met with the C.I.. -He was searched to make sure
there was no contraband on him. He was giﬁen some buy
money from the drug enforcement unit and monitored by
video and audio equipment.while he went up and met
with who he knew as Mack. He bought some marijuana
from Mack. Gave him the $25 dollars of identifiablé
funds. Got back into his car. Monitored the entire
time. He returned to the location to meet up with
with drug enforce unit again. Again was searched.

He no longer had the buy money but he did have
marijuana. It was taken by officers. Officers
submitted that. It was tested. It was 6.8 grams of
marijuana. It was confirmed to be marijuana by the
chemist. This incident did took place within a half
mile of Winthrop University Campus.

During that investigation it wés determined that
Mack was legally known as Dennis Davis, the defendant
before you. A photo line-up was given to the C.I. and
he confirmed the identification of Mack as Dennis
Davis. He picked him out of the line-up.

'The officers met again with that same confidential
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informant on April 5, 2013. Again they went through

the same routine of searching him, wiring him, making

\
sure| he was monitored and he didn't have any

contraband. The confidential informant called Mack
I

agaib to set up a deal. He met him at the grocery

|
store on Proper Road. Went out there and in exchange

for $25 in government marked buy money. He got 6.8
i .

gram$ of marijuana. A quarter of an ounce, -
|
!

approximately a quarter of a ounce. Came back, gave
|

|
1

that| to drug enforcement unit who then submitted into

evidence. Confirmed that it was marijuana and it was

approximately a quarter of an ounce. That deal

\
happkned within a half mile of Clinton College.

?
¥our Honor, the defendant was not -- again, it was

\
confirmed that Mack was Dennis Davis.

?n April 16th, Mr. Davis was arrested on those
|

outétanding warrants from drug enforcement unit. When
|

he is was arrested on those warrants they asked him if
|

he Had anything illegal on him. He initially said
i

no.i When he got to the jail on those warrants they

did ;a strip search and there it was revealed there was

|
I

marﬂjuana in a grey baggy in his underwear. He was

chaéged with simple possession of marijuana and

|
contraband. That marijuana was seized from him and

| .
- tested. It was confirmed to be marijuana. It was

i
|
|
|
|
|
|
I
|
|
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13.9 grams.

Your Honor, those are essentially the facts for the
purposes of this plea. To make these third offense
distribution of marijuana as Your Honor knows, there
was a conviction from October of 2002 of trafficking
crack qocaine.lo‘to 28 grams. There was also a
coﬁviction from that same incident, possession of

crack cocaine with intent to distribute near Winthrop

- College. Your Honor, in February of 2009 he had

simple possession of marijuana second or subsequent

~conviction making both possession of marijuana a

- seécond subsequent offense and the distribution of

marijuana third offenses and rest of his record is

essentially traffic offenses from 2001 and you heard

-about the pointing and presenting and the possession

of stolen pistol. 'That was around the time of the
trafficking charge.

THE COURT: Mr. Davis, you heard the facts recited
by the solicitor surrounding these incidents that
happened in March and April of last year. Are those
substantially the facts to>which you are pleading
today as to whatlhappenéd on each of of the incidents
where the distribution of marijuana took place in
March and April. Are you pleading guilty to those

facts?
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10
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Mr. Davis, when you enter a plea of
guilty you give up substantial rights that you enjoy.
You‘have a right to have a trial by jury. We
selected a jury. Théy haven't been sworn in yet but
you could continue with this trial. The State of
South Carolina would have to prove your guilt beyond
any‘reasonable doubt. You would have a right to
remain silent. You would be presumed innocent. 1In a
trial you would have a right to confront those
witnesses against you and let your lawyer examine them
under oéth. You would have-a right to challenge the
evidence the State tries to introduce. You would have
a right to call witnesses in your own behalf if you
wish to. You have these and other rights under our
constitution, but you give all those up by pleading
guilty. Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT:  Yes.

THE COURT: Are you satisfied with the
representation of your attorney?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

_THE COURT: Has he done everything to defend you
you've asked him to do? Excuse me? You are need to
speak up, please.

Has he done everything to defend you that you asked
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him? Did you ask him to do anything that he hasn't

done?

THE-DEFENDANT: No. He said what I asked him to
do said he .can't do.

THE CdURT: Asked him to that he can't do as far
as investing the case?

THE DEFENDANT: Like tell the solicitor trying to
work something out.

THE COURT: He says he can't work out any better
deal for you?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Héve you understood the discussions
you had with your lawyer.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Is there anything else you feel you
need to talk with him about? |

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir,

THE COURT: Do you have any complaints at all
about his representation?

THE DEFENDANT: No,. sir.

THE COURT: 1Is there any recommendation from the
State, solicitor? Any recommendations from the State?

MS. DESCH: Your Honor, at this point because we
are in the trial posture and the C.I. has been

revealed there is no recommendation from the State.
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THE COURT: Has anyone promised you anything, Mr.

Davis to entice you to pleading guilty today?

THE DEFENDANT: They didn't promise, but they said
if I will plead I will get a whole bunch of time.

THE COURT: Do you understand that the charges that
you are pleading to would carry 61 years in jail if
they all were accumulated? For each of the
distribution you could receive up to 20 years in jail,
for each of the charges of the proximity of the
disﬂribution within an education facility you could
get 10 years each on those, and for the possession you
could receive one year in jail. Do you understand
that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: And you understand it is up to me to
decide what the sentence is?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Has anybody threatened you to get you
to plead guilty today?

THE DEFENDANT: No.

THE COURT: Are you pleading guilty Mr. Davis of
youf own free will?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

" THE COURT: Are you doing so because you are

guilty of these charges?
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THE DEFENDANT: Because I don't want to do a whole

bunch of time.
. THE COURT: Well, I just told you that could
receive 61 years in jail. Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Are you guilty of these charges.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You heard what I read from the
indictments?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Have you understood the questions I
asked of you?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Have you been truthful in yéur answers
to me?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: The law gives you a right if you méet
our Appellant Courts rules to appeal this proceeding
within ten days, and if you-can't afford an attorney
one can be appointed for you. In other words if there
is legal matters that the Appellant Court feels thaf
were violated in this proceeding then you c&uld appeal
this within ten days.

Do you understand that.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.
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THE COURT: I find there is a substantial factual

basls for the plea, that it has been freely and
i _

voluPtarily, knowingly and intelligently made by Mr.
;

Davis with the advice of competent legal counsel with

whom%he expressed his satisfaction. I will accept

|
|
!Mr. Hayes, I will be glad to hear from you and

your plea sir.

cert%inly from yoﬁr children.

|
%R. HAYES: Thank you, Your Honor. May it please
the Court.

Mr. Davis as told you, Your Honor, he is

|

32 years old. He does have family that resides in the
Rock Hill, Charlotte area. He was working throughout

this| past year since these incidents in a warehouse in
Charlotte. Throughout my representation when I asked

Mr. Davis to come up sometimes he had to work. He

made time to come up at other times, but he is a hard

worker. I know that to be a fact. I also had the

opp&rtunity to meet his family who is here_in support
of ﬂim. His girlfriend, is in the first row, his
motﬂer and his sister are also in the first row. I
bel%eve some other family members are in the courtroom
as well. He has got a strong support of loving family

who:is here and I believe want to see Dennis do well.

I believe in the past year he has made some changes to
|
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turn his life around. Since the incident he has

worked. I believe he has started to go to church and
he has cared or tried to care for his family. As he
told Your Honor, he has five children that he supports
and cares for.

Mr. Davis, I think as some people are up against
these type of charges,'as you can see he is very
nervous about the time he could potentially get. I
would ask that Your Honor to consider that he has of
his own volition in the past year made substantial
changes to his 1life. Has not continued to deal drugs
in the past year and I would ask Your Honor to
consider that. Not to consider the charges. I would
ask you to consider them as whole. This was just one
course of conduct. Not penalize him because of the
amount of charges. I think that this was a course of
conduct that was invesfigated and he is pleading
guilty to them and acknowledging his guilt. But I
would ask Your Honor not to give Mr. Davis more time
because of the amount of charges in this case.

Mr. Davis, I believe would like to address the
Court, but I think his mother would also like to
address the Court if the Court would be inclined.

THE COURT: I would be glad to hear from him or

her or anyone else. Thank you.
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MR. CREIGHTON: Miss Davis.

THE COURT: If you would please state your name
for ;he record.

MS. DAVIS: I'm Lisa Da&is.

THE COURT: All right. Miss Davis. Be glad to
hear from you.

MS. DAVIS: All right. Thank you for the
opportunity, Your Honor. I want to talk to you a
little bit about the Dennis that I know because I know
you heard the Dennis that the Court knows. But
Dennis, my son, what they fail to tell you is he is a
very loving person. He is a loving person to me,
loving person to his family; If you look out among
the community I don't think you will find many people
that would tell you anything different other than he
is loving. He is kind. He is caring. He will give
you the shirt off his back if he can. I also want to
tell you that my son has a mixed family. Those five
children are not five biological children he has. He
has two biological children and three children with
the girlfriend that he's with. I want to tell you
that He treats them all the same. I want to tell you
they all véry important to him. The 12-year old will
be 13-years old this year. I want to tell you that

when I came in here and I prayed all night because I
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came with the attention of taking my son home because

-~ I understand and I know what the solicitor and the
police officers say he did. I will léave it at that
on that particular comment. But I also know my son
and I also know he have a lot of friends and I know
these friends pal around.and they are not always doing
what is right. Not everybody always does what is

right.. Sometime they're smoking stuff they shouldn't

-smoke. And I really believe in my heart this is

how he got caught up with this particular situation
because that boy is a friend of a friend that I know.
You know, like I said, we all make mistakes.
Unfortunately mistakes that my son has made is going
to cost him. Like Mr. Hayes' said, in over the last
year I saw a change in my son and i don't know if he
it's admissible in this courtfoom, but I am a believer
and I believe in Jesus Christ and the power of prayer.
I raised my kids in the church. My son when he went
down the road, the first time he went down the road,
he got tied up with some other guy's religion that I
know nothing about and I didn't support fhat and for
those of you who don't believe in religion in here I
will ask you to.bare with me because I need you to
under;tand what I saw this time.

So in November I saw some things happen and I saw
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my an begin to pray, Your Honor. And I believe in
the %ffectual prayers of a righteous man. That was

\
change number one. All through the years my son went

backwards and forward. Me taking him to McDonalds,

.Burger King, Bojangles, US Foods, all different kind

.of warehouse to try to get a job. He couldn't get a

job,| Your Honor, because of his record. So, when

he ngan to pray in November he started getting calls
for jobs. He went to work. My son cares about his.
kids| and he ié-going to pfovide for them. He may for
not i[provide for them the right way, because that is
what| happened back when he was first arrested. It
wasn't right, but he was providing for them kids. And
I believe he is going to continue to provide for them.
The only thing else I want to say to you today
and to this Court is I ask that you show mercy. I
ask that if any way possible and I don't know the
right words because I'm not a lawyer, but I know that

he cares about his kids. I know he want to see his

kidﬁ_with nice things that other kids have. He has a

‘13-year old. She is in band and she's running track.
|

| .
That takes a lot of money. I work for one of the
local health agencies and they just cut my hours down
to be part time, so I don't have a lot that I can

give. Their mother, the children's mother, she is
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back there. She works too, but I know her job. She 4

works at McDonalds. Her job is minimal. So -- so,
what I'm saying, a man need to be there to take care
of his kids.

So, in your consideration I ask that you be
merciful if you can so‘that maybe he can get back soon
and get back in his place so he can help take care of
his kids and if at all possible something that you can
do to help him continue to be eligible for employment
because I've been through it with him and I took him.

And had I not been there I would have said you a

- ain't looking for no job. But I been there and I saw

what he went through and I saw nobody in Rock Hill
would give him a chance. But when he went to start
appl?ing in North Carolina they gave him a chance. I
ask that you give him a chance today.

THE COURT: Thank you, ma'am. Mr. Davis,
anything you want to tell me.

THE COURT: VYes, sir. I got five kids. Like my
momma was saying three of them ain't biological, but I
love‘them just like they are mine and nothing in the
world I wouldn't do fér them. I have five of them and
T don't know like however sentencing will go or if
there is any way possible that I could get back to

them, but I would much like to go home. But if not go
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home, at least give me something so I won't be gone

that long.

I got two kids ready to be teenagers and I mean,
you were a teenager once, that is when you really
start getting in to things and stepping out and
eventually trying to see what life about. I feel like
me being away from them and at such a critical time
it's just going to hurt them more than it's going to
help them.

‘That's all I got to say.

THE COURT: How old were you when you started
using marijuana?

THE DEFENDANT: Thirteen.

THE COURT: You get it from a friend.

THE DEFENDANT: Me and my friends.

.THE COURT: Your mother didn't approve of you
using marijuana as 13-year old, did she?

‘THE DEFENDANT: She didn't, no.

THE COURT: You sneaked behind your back so you
could do that? |

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: She tells me she was trying to teach
you the right thing to do.

'THE DEFENDANT: She was.

THE COURT: You knew smoking marijuana as a
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. 13-year old wasn't the right thing to do, didn't you.

THE DEFENDANT: Are you saying, did I know?

THE COURT: Did you know that when you were 13

that you shouldn't be smokihg>marijuana.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir, but you know when you
are young you make dumb choices. Dumb mistakes.

THE COURT: We all do, but then that just kept
going on an on, didn't it?

THE DEFENDANT: I just want the best for my kids.
I want them to be better then I was, being I've been
through some things and not always made the right
decisions. Whose a better teacher to tell them then
somebody who has been where they are trying to go.

THE CQURT: Any time served on'this solicitor?

MS. DESCH: I actually don't know that answer.

THE COURT: Minimal time, I guess.

MR. HAYES: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: -He bonded out?

Mr. HAYES: Yes, sir.

Your Honor, I would ask the Court to consider that
this senténce because of the nature of Mr. Davis's
record the department will treat as 85 percent before
he is eligible to make parole, I would ask the Codrt
to consider that and the fact that the minimum on this

sentence is five years. I would ask the Court to
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consider a sentence somewhere in the range of five to

eight years. -Somewhere in there. He was originally

offefed six years, which I think is an appropriate

-sentence in this case. Considering his record I

undefstand the Court may not be inclined to issue the

|
minimum sentence, but I believe somewhere on the lower

end of this range considering that Mr. Davis has come

in and acknowledged his guilt before going through
withja trial. Man upped so to speak. I think that he
shouhd be given some consideration today, Your Honor.

|
MS. DESCH: : Your Honor, may I address that

{

fly?

\
|
\
FHE COURT: Yes, ma'am.
|

MS. DESCH: I understand why mitigation like that

|
|
is p#esented, but we would also just like to address

the &act that offer was given prior to the C.I.'s

|
|
idenkity be revealed and that is very important to the

|
Stath. Citizens help us out and we try to make plea

offers that reflect protecting there identity. That
|

off%r was rejected and the identity was revealed and
\

we are here for trial.

|
THE COURT: Somehow the cycle has got to be broken

now Mr. Davis. You care for your children I know
I

and . your mom cared for you and she tried to teach you

right, and hopefully you teach your children right,




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17
18
19
20

21
22

23
24

25

23

23
while you are away from your children. You are

32 years old. You will have some other young people
that hopefully you can teach some of your principals
that your mom has taught you, a woman of strong faith.
Perhaps that can do you well with-some of the folks
YOu come in contact in jail.and out of jail. And from
what I heard today you got great potential to be a
productive member of our society. Help mentor, not
only your children and your girlfriend's children but

other young people around to teach them the errors of

" your ways and I hope you succeed in that.

This is case 2013-GS-46-70. The sentence of the
Court 'is you be committed to tﬁe Departﬁent of
Corrections for a period of 125 months. Case
2971, sentence of the Court 125 months to be
concurrent. Case, 2966 five year sentence will be
concurrent. Case 2964 one year sentence will be
concurrent to those preyiously imposed.

i wish you the best Mr. Davis and certainly for
your family.

MR. HAYES: Thank you, Your Honor.
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CERTIFICATE

I, the underéigned Aileen Butler, Official Court Reporter

for the Sevenéh Judicial Circuit of the State of South Carolina,

do hereby cerﬁify that the foregoing is a true, accurate, and
|

complete tran%cript of record of all the proceedings in the

\
captioned case, in the Circuit Court for York County, South
| _

Carolina, on ﬂhe 21st day of May, 2014.

I do furtﬁer certify that I am neither of kin, counsel, nor
! :

interest to aﬁy party hereto.

April 28, 2015

Certified Court Reporter
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: STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
) OF THE SIXTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
COUNTY OF YORK ) '
) 2015-CP-46-0777
Dennis Roger Davis, Jr., )
S.C.D.C. No. 290227, )
)
Applicant, )
) RETURN
V. )
)
State of South Carolina, )
)
Respondent. : )
S

Respondent, making its Return to the application for post-conviction relief (PCR) filed
March 12, 2015, would respectfully show this Court:

L

Applicant is presently copﬂned in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant
to orders of commitment of the York County Clerk of Court. Applicant was indicted at the
August 2013 term of the York iCounty Grand Jury for Possession of Marijuana (2013-GS-46-
2964), two charges of Distributijon of Marijuana In Proximity of a School (2013-GS-46-2966, -

‘
2969), and two charges of Distribution of Marijuana (2013-GS-46-2970, -2971). Applicant was
represented by Creighton Hayesj, Esquire. On May 21, 2014, Applicant pled guilty before the
Honorable G. Edward Welmakejr. He was sentenced to a term of imprisonment for one year for
Possession of Marijuana, five yo;ars for each charge of Distribution of Maﬁjuana In Proximity of
|

a School, and ten years for each charge of Distribution of Marijuana. All sentences run

concurrently.
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. Applicant timely filed a notice of appeal. By Order filed February 11, 2014, the South
Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed Applicant's appeal for failure to file sufficient explanation
as required by SCACR 203(d)(1)(B)(iv). The Remittitur was sent September 5, 2014.

IL.
In his current application for post-conviction relief, Applicant alleges he is being held
unlawfully for the following reasons:
1. Ineffective Assistance of Trial (Guilty Plea) Counsel
a. "Failure to challenge the use of an invalid conviction"
b. "Failure to challenge the sufficiency of the chain of
custody"
c. "Failure to protect my rights to seek a direct appeal.

Also failure to sign me up with the indigent defense to
represent me on appeal.”

Any claims not specifically enumerated in the PCR application or amendments will be
opposed by the State at evidentiary hearing. All amendments should be made well in advance of
hearing and should be filed as required by Rule 11, SCRCP(a). , |

Attached herewith and incorporated herein are the York County Clerk of Court records
regarding the subject convictions, Applicant's records from the South Carolina Department of
Corrections, and the plea transcript. Respondent reserves the right to amend this Return upon
receipt of any relevant materials.

IIL

Respondent submits plea counsel rendered effective assistance of counsel. In a Post-
Conviction Relief* action, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in their
application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 8.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges
ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that "counsel's

conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be
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relied upon as having produced a justresult." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct.

2052, 2064 (1984); Butler, 334 ?.E.2d 813.
The proper measure of| performance is whether the attorney provided representation

within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counsel

rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable
professional judgment. Stricklar‘ld, 466 U.S. 668. Applicant must overcome this presumption in
order to receive relief. Cherry vl State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

The reviewing court appliés a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective

assistance of plea counsel. F irst,i Applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient.

Under this prong, the court measures an attorney’s performance by its "reasonableness under

professional norms." Cherry, 360 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, citing Strickland. Second,

counsel's deficient performance 3must have prejudiced Applicant such that “there is a reasonable

probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have

been different." Cherry, 300 S.:C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. With respect to guilty plea
counsel, Applicant must show th:at there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's alleged
errors, he would not have pled g:uilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart,

474U.S. 52, 106 S.Ct. 366 (1985).
i
Respondent submits thai% Applicant cannot satisfy either requirement of the Strickland

test. However, the allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel probably raises questions of fact

that the record does not conclusively refute. Accordingly, Respondent requests an evidentiary

|
hearing to fully resolve this issu'c?. See Sharper v. State, 279 S.C. 264, 305 S.E.2d 247 (1983).

‘ V.

Respondent denies each allegation that is not expressly admitted, qualified or explained.
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V.
WHEREFORE, Respondent requests an evidentiary hearing for the purpose of

determining whether the Applicant's guilty plea counsel was ineffective.

Respectfully submitted,

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney Gerieral

KAREN C. RATIGAN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attoiney General

JUSTIN J. HUNTER
Assistant Attorney General

By: W (T _
ATTORNEYSFOR RESPONDENT
Office of the Attorney General

, P.O. Box 11549
_ /7 Columbia, S.C.. 29211

/ ‘VVJ LA
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STATE OF SQUTH CAROLINA )
) IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
COUNTY OF YORK ) .
)
! ) 2015-CP-46-0777
S | )
DENNIS DAVIS, JR., #290227 )
| )
Applicant, )
) '
vs ) AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE.BY MAIL
)
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, )
: )
~ Respondent. )
)
B
| .
1. I am an employee of the Respondent in the above-captioned action.

i
2. Regular COmmuﬁicaficn by mail exists throughout the State of South Carelina

and that this is a proper. circumstance of service by mail.

8. Ihave this day ser vedwa copy of the Return in the above-captioned matter on:the
following person(s) by depos*tmg same in the United States mail, postage prepaid:

Leah B. Moody, .Esqmi‘c
285 East Main.Street; Suite 115
Rock Hill, SC 29731

DATED this 6t day of August, 2015.

Dint -

“Chandra " ‘ﬁ g Le{l oo
For Respon:




STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )
- ) COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
COUNTY OF YORK . ) 2015-CP-46-0777

DENNIS DAVIS, JR. )
APPLICANT )
vS. ' ) TRANSCRIPT OF RECQRD
) .
)
)

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
_ RESPONDENT __

January 20, 2016
York, South Carolina

BEFORE:

THE HONORABLE.PAUL M. BURCH, JUDGE.

APPEARANCES:

LEAH B. MOODY, ESQUIRE
Attorney for the Applicant

JUSTIN HUNTER, ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Attorney for the State

CREIGHTON HAYES, ESQUIRE

HATTIE O. GORDON
Circuit Court Reporter
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COLLOQUY

MR. HUNTER: May it please the Court, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

MR. HUNTER: The last case today is Dennis Davis, Jr.
v. the State of South Carolina, 2015-CP-46-0777. Your
Honor, he was‘indicted at the August 2013 term of the York
County Grand 5ury for possession of marijuana second or
subsequent. That's é013—G8—46—2964 two counts of
distribution of marijuana in proximity of a school. Those
are 2013—GS—46—2966 and 2969. And also for two counts of
distribution qf marijuana third offense. That would be
2013-GS-46-2970 and 2971.

He was répresented by Mr. Creighton Hayes. On May
the 21st 2014.he pled guilty before the Honorable G.
Edward Welmaker, and was sentenced to one year for
possessionAof{marijuana second or subsequent. ‘Five years
concurrent fof each count of distribution of mérijuana in
proximity of a schéol. And ten years, five months
concurrent on each charge of distribution of marijuana
third offense.

Your Honor, Mr. Hayes filed a Notice of Appeal and a
Rule 2(f), 3(b) explanation saying that he did not believe
that there Qas a good faith basis for appeal. Let's go on
to afford Applicant of those rights.' By order filed

February 11th 2014 the Court of Appeals dismissed the
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appeal. The remitter was sent September 5th 2014. On
March 12th 2015 filed this current action. He is present
today, and he is represented by Ms. Lea Moody. | A

THE COURT: Mr. Davis, at the beginning of each
hearing in the post conviction relief terms I take just a
minute or two to speak with the Petitioners just to make
sure you've got an understanding of what I can do as
pre31d1ng judge hearing your case and also some potentlal
pitfalls.

And I have briefly looked at the documents in'the
file up here. I éépecially want to take some time to talk
with you. First of all, sometimes the rumor goes around
the Department of Corrections that you can get your
sentenced reduced. I have no authority to do that. I
can't -- cannot reduce the sentence.

The basic relief in any petition for post conviction
relief would be grant a new trial if you convince the
trial court Qf it; that remedy does.

Now, pitfalls, dangers of P.C.R. is that yoﬁ go back
to ground zero if your petition is granted. And it caught
my eye two thiﬁgs_that are a little unusual about your
file. You received a ten year sentence, and yéu had, and
I don't know if there is any charges that were nolle
prosed or dismissed, but just from the charges in the plea

involved you had a potential exposure of 61 years. You
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realize that if you were to get relief here you could be
brought back and you would open yourself up to that
possible 61 yéars should a judge see fit 1f you Qere
convicted.

The other thing that I caught in looking over your
file, you're ﬁp for parole in three and a half months.

MR. DAVIS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: So you may want to take a minute or two
and talk with‘your counsel and make sure that this is the
action you waﬁt to take.

Now, I'm not tell you what you ﬁeed to do. I'm just
telling you what f know from experieﬁcé that I've seen
happen, and I tell everybddy about a case over in
Darlington Codnty. There was a petitioner over there that
received a 20 year sentence on a voluntary mansiaughter
charge. And he pfevailed on his P.C.R. petition and got
granted a new trial..

He was brought back to Darlington and he was tried
and he received a 30 yéar sentence. So that's a classic
example of why I wanted to review this with you because
there is a lot'of misunderstanding that goces on about what
we can do as presiding judge and also those potential
pitfalls. Sojif you want to take a minute or two to talk
to counsel you're more than welcomed to. |

MR. DAVIS: I understand what that says, sir.
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THE COURT: Okay. All right.

MS. MOODY: Your Honor, at this time I call Dennis
Davis to.the stand.

DENNIS DAVIS, after being duiy sworn, testified

as follows:

CLERK OF COURT: Come around and have a seat in that
witness box.

MR. DAVIS: Yes, ma'am.

CLERK OF COURT: Watch your step up.

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MS. MOODY:

Q. Would you please state your full name for the record,

sir.?

A. Dennis Davis, Jr.

Q. And where are you currently incarcerated?

A. Regional Correctional Institution.

Q. And what is the current sentence that you're serving?
A Twenty—five months fér two distributions. Well, I

got 125 months on two distributions and five years on
proximity of a school zone. And I was sentenced to a year
for possession of marijuana.

Q. Okay. And, so,  the total you're serving, ten years
charge running concurrent, correct?

A, Yes, ten years and five months.

Q.' Okay. And who was your attorney on those charges?
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Dennis Davis - Direct by Ms. Moody

A. Creightoﬁ Hayes.

Q. . Okay. And of those éharges there were no charges
dismissed, cotrect?

A. I think it was. I was think it was a -- I think it
was three distribﬁtions and I think three proximities, but
they threw one of them cut. From my understanding like

one of them really wasn't no good any way.

Q. So when you got indicted you had charge from
March 8th?

A. Yes; ma'aﬁ.

0. You had a charge from April 5th?

A. Yes, ma'am. |

Q. And then you had one from April 16th?

A. Yeah, and_it was also one on March the 21st.

Q. Okay. So that got thrown out, but the charges that

got indicted were two -—- well, one distribution on

March 8th along with'one distribution within proximity of
a school, correct?

A, Yes, ma'am.

Q. Okay, and then the similar charge, but proximity of

another school on April the 5th? |

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Okay. And then there was a possession of marijuana

- charge. So that's all of the charges that you have that

you're serving your ten years and five months on?
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Dennis Davis - Direct by Ms. Moody

A. Yeés, ma'am.
Q.  Okay. And Creighton Hayes represented you on all

those charges?

A. Yes, ma'am.
Q. Did he represent you from the time that you were
arrested?

A. No, I think -- well,.I had to fill out an application
for

Q. An attorney?

A. Yeah.

Q. Okay. So once you filled out that apblication for an
attorney you got appointed to Mr. Hayes?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Okay. Now, did you have an opportunity to meet with

Mr. Hayes?

A. Yeah, we met a couple times.
Q. Did you meet while you were in County?
A. No, ma'am. I bonded out. I bonded out I think like

four maybe fivé days after I had been locked up on'the
léth. |

Q. Okay. And so when you said met with him a couple
times you went to his office and mét with him?

A. Um hum.

Q. Yes?

A. Yes, ma'am.
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Dennis Davis - Direct by Ms. Moody
10

0. So when you met with him did you have an bpportunity
to go over the facts of your case? |

A. Well, he told me -- he told me the stuff they --
yeah, pretty ﬁuch, I guess. The facts that he had or
whatever.

Q. I mean did you éive him any information from your
standpoint? Did you tell him anything about it?

A, I told him that I felt that I should have been
charged with like a second offense because what they weré
using to make my third offense was a simple posséssion of
marijuana chafge. |

Q. You told him that yoﬁ felt like you should be charged

with a second offense?

A, Yes, ma'am.
Q. Okay?
A. As a second offender.

Q. Okay. And then in that meeting did you all discuss
the discovery or the evidence the State had against you?
A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Okay. Ané you discussed you background, your family

background, with him as well?

A, Yes, ma'am.
Q. Did you inform him of your employment status at the
time?

A. Yes, ma'am.
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Dennis Davis - Direct by Ms. Moody

Q. So you pretty much told him everything about yourself
and your version of what occurred on these -- with regard
to these instances?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. And what if anything. happened after going over your
discovery and discussing your background? .

A. What you mean?

Q. Well, did you decide or did you all decide together
whether or nof you were going to be a plea or a trial?

A. Well, actually I told him I wanted to go to trial,
and the day that I actually pled out we were actually

in -- going to trial and what not.

Q. Qkay. -So you were already prepared to go to trial
and héd you received an offer before getting ready to go
to trial? |

A. The Solicitor offered six years, and I told them -- I
told Creighton that I didn't want to plead.

Q. All right. So you asking to be going to trial?

A.  Yes. '

Q. And so how long was that before you went to trial?

A I know it was like -- I want to say a year. Maybe a
year. Like 13 months or something like that before they
actually did. We came to go to trial.

Q. Okay. So the year before you went to trial you had

an offer of six years?
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12
A, No. The 'six years came like right before the trial.
Q. Okay. That's what I'm trying to figure out. -Did it

come the week”before your trial?

A. Somewhere along those lines. Maybe a week, two
weeks.

Q. Okay. And so you turned that down and you prepared
to go to trial?

A. Yes, ma'aﬁ.

Q. So you got ready to go to trial; and obviously, you
pled to the-charges, correct?

A.  Yep, because he advised me to plead. He kept telling
me that if I was to go to trial and lose that I could get
20 years and it's going to be 85 percent. Or the judge
could give me 60 years. Basically, like how I look at it
now he was like basically like trying to scare me into
taking a plea.

Q. Okay. Weil, what about it scared you? I mean that's
what you were éctually facing?

A. Yes, ma'am, that's true. That's why I was asking to,
but -- well, I just felt like he didn't want to like go
forward with the trial. He didn't want to push the issue
about the trial. Like he just rather have me pléa.

Q. Well, what do you mean about you didn't want to push
the issue aboﬁﬁ the trial?

A. Because I mean like the things I was telling him
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right about that I should have been charged with a second

offense. Like he never gave any kind of feedback or

~information on how did he research actually what I had

been saying or anything.
Q. So when you say, 'second offense' explain to the
Court what your prior record was in terms of -- and you're

saying the second offense in terms of a drug case?

A. Yes, ma'ém.
Q. Can you tell the Court what was your first offense or
your drug -- I withdraw that. Explain to the Judge what

was your conviction as it relates to drug charges for your
prior record?
A. I had a trafficking offense in 2002 of crack, and in
2009 I had a simple possession of marijuana, secbnd
offense, that I actually did time on.

Were yoﬁ represented.on that charge?

Yes, ma'am.

Q
A
Q. By whom?.
A Tawanna Byrd;
Q

And that charge. was originally a distribution,

correct?

A. Um hum.

Q It's got to be yes or no.

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q Okay. So when you say you pled to simple possession
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you pled with Tawanna Byrd in this courthouse?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Okay. And tell the Court what you feel that Mr.
Hayes should have investigated about that particﬁlar
charge?

A. Well, from my research the simple possession of
marijuana couldn't be used to enhance a third offence
because it was a misdemeanor charge. The misdemeanors
that I have afe not classified in the same classification
of felony.

And also I have avcouple of case laws as well, but it
speaks on like a -- counts of misdemeanor convictibn; And
what makes thé conviction invalid is if you didn't have
counsel or if you've done time for the conviction. So
looking at the case law that I researched I felt like Mr.
Hayes should have challenged the conviction.

But becauée I was ignorant to the law and didn't know
the law or didn't know how I should have been charged with
the second offense I had no other choice but to blead to
the charges. .

Q. So you're saying because -- well, obviously, you just
testified that Tawanna Byrd was your attorney for that
charge, correct?

A. Um hum.

Q. So you don't fall in the uncounseled category, do
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you?
A. No, ma'am.
Q. Okay.

A. | But I do fall under the category where I was sent
when I actually did time I was actually incarcerated for
the misdemeanor conviction.

Q. Okay. And so you understand that enhancement --
well, you understand what I've told you in terms of what
the law is?

A. Yeah, I see what you was saying about it.

Q. That if you're uncounseled you can't properly waive

your right to an attorney?

A. Yeah, I get what you're saying.'

Q. And in-this particular case you héd your attorney,
correct?

A. Yes, ma'am, I did. I exercised my right to counsel.

That's a constitutional right afforded to you by the
Constitution. .

Q. Right. And you said that attorney advised you on
what you were pleading to, correct?

A. Yeah, she said I could pay a fine or she said the
Judge could have gave me time, but I was looking to pay
the fine but the Judge didn't let me.pay the fine. The
Judge sent me to the Department of Corrections. Gave me

year for it.
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Q. -Okay. And so you're saying here today that bécause
you got a yeaf the State should not enhance you as to the
charges that Mr. Hayes represented you on?

A. As a third offense, yes, ma'am.

Q.- Okay. And you're saying that that just doesn't count
when the Court convenes?

A. I'm saying that being that I asked to be done —--
actually was incarcerated for this charge that it can't be
used to enhande a subsequgnt offense or the next level -
offense.

0. Okay. Aﬁd so you felt like that during the plea that
you were entering.your plea to these charges that

Mr. Hayes should have objected to the State using that

2008 —--
A. 2009.
Q. 2009, I'm sorry. 2009 simple possession second or

subsequent, Mf, Hayes should have objected to that?
A. It was a simple possession of mérijuana charge'secondv
offense, and,.yeah, he should have objécted to that
because it was an invalid conviction. By the conviction
being invalid that means they couldn't use it. So,
therefore, they would have had to charge me a second
offense. They would have had to charge me with a second
offense of distribution.

Q. Okay. Now, you also indicated that you counsel was
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ineffective for failing to challenge the sufficiency of
the chain of custody? . |
A. . Yes, ma'am.

Q. And how so? This was a plea. What was he supposed
to do?

A. Well, I mean beforehand, before I took the plea if he
had properly inveétigated it, like he would have seen a
lot of key documents was missing. Like there are certain

procedures that the arresting officer -- not the arresting

" officer. Pardon me. The seizing officer and the

custodian must follow to actually procure this evidence.

| And a lot‘of these documents is-missing. Like one
would be like the seizing officers. He supposed to, like
if something, say the evidence, is altered or changed for
some apparent reason, it's supposed to be a note-of that.
If you look through my motion of discovery or my Rule Five
you wouldn't éée no notice of why the controlled substance
was lost.
Q. Well, how was it alte:ed?
A. Okay. Well, on one of the case numbers it says that
the evidence was approximately 6.8 grams, but when you go
to the chemical analysis it says 6.5 grams. I know it'é
not a gigantic difference, but that'é a gram difference
from being 6.9 to 6.5 grams, you know.

Q. So how does that affect your particular case if it
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Q. No, no, no. I'm asking you would you have risked
going to trial over that amount if he produced that
documentation for you?
A, If he produced the specific documents thén I would
know why it was altered or it was changed.
Q. But woula you have gone to trial is what I'm asking
you?
A. No, not if he héd the documents, but there is no
evidence 6f this document.
Q. Okay. And so when you met with him almost -- you met
with him a couple of times. You met_with him almost
within a year span of time, did you al; not go-oﬁer the
evidence that the State had against you?
A. We talkéd. We talked about the video and what the
officer said and things like that. But did we actually
sit down and go through the case file or the Rule Five
page for page? No, we didn't.
Q. Did he give yéu-a copy of it?
A. I believe so. I want to say yeah. I want to say
yes, ma'am.
Q. Did you go over it yourself?
A. No.

Q. If there anything else that you feel he should have
done with regard to the chain of custody? '

A. Well, I feel like he should have moved to suppress
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the evidence. If'he had investigated properly and
thoroughly as the Rules of Professional Conduct states he
would have known that the key documents were missing.and
the officers did not follow certain rules and properly
document in sécuring the evidence propérly.

"All evidénge custodians shall create or cause to be
created a written record concerning the controlled
substance evidence within their custody containing at’
least the following: Name of the evidence custoaian, the
name of the law enforcement agency employing evidence
custodian, the capacity of employment of the evidence
custodian.

The date when the controlled substance evidence was
received, how the controlled substance evidence was
received, by mail or in person, from whom the controlled
substance was received, the namé of the agency eﬁploying
the law enfprcement officer or the léw enforcement
employee from whom the controlled subsfances were
received.

The name of the original seizing officer, the
description of the controlled substances or the containers
alleged to confaiﬁ the controlled substance using
suspicion with:particularity to distinguish it."

This document -- like this document is missing

completely. Also, Rule Six states, "Each evidence
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custodian shall create or cause to be created a.subsequent
chain of custody form. This subsequent chain of custody
form shall contain the following information which ---

Q. Now, let me ask you this. You're saying that.these
forms are suppdsed to be in your discovery, right?

A. From my understanding, yes, ma'am.

Q. So if there was no change from anyone else's hand or
the custodian, that's who you're talking about, do you
agree that there might not be a form in ﬁhere for that?

A. Yeah, but.it had to be a chain from the custodian
cause he had to get to the chemical to analysis, right?

Q. I mean, you have a copy of the discovery?

A. It's not in there.

Q. Okay. So you're saying that it went to S.L.E.D. or
the custodian qQr the chemical analysis here in you£ couhty
and nothing documented that it was protected?

A. That's in there, but as far as the form that they're
saying that the custodian supposed to have created or

caused to be created is not in there.

Q. Okay. Is there any other form that is missing?

A. Like I was stating before about the alteration of the
evidence.

Q. The form that deals with alteration of the evidence?

Did they change the amount?

A, Yes, ma'am.
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Q. S0 that's missing?
A. Yes, ma'am.
Q. Alterétion of the controlled substance evidence must

be documented 'in writing and the record of the alteration
must be kept with the chain of custody.” These documents
are also missﬂng. And, clearly, the evidence has been

altered because at first it weighed approximately 6.8.

grams.
A. If I'm not mistaken approximately is something that's
exact.

Q. No, you're mistaken. Approximately is approximately.

It's estimatesg

THE COURT: Anothef factor.in there, too, all of
y'all are awaré of it. Normally, it's field tested. So
they remove soﬁe of the substance and fhen when it gets to
the lab naturaily it's going to be a little bit less in
most caéé. But, anyway, I don't know that that's the case
here, but possible explanation. Sorry. Go ahead. |
BY MS. MOODY:
Q. Now, as t§ all of these forms you brought up on this
issue, you didjnot discuss this or your attorney didn't
discuss this with the Rule Five -- I mean, excuse me. The
chain of custoay before y'all were getting ready to go to
trial?

A. No, ma'am,
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Q. Okay. And he didn't show you the forms that you're
saying were missing, you did not see those before you'went

to trial?

A, No, ma'am. I do have a —- like copies of I would say .

evidence bags'or something, but like you really can't see
nothing on it. They, I guess like --- |

Q. That's what? The'marijuana you're talking about?
Thaﬁ's what it really ---

A. Yeah, something like that. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Okay. 8o you saw that?

A. But you can't make out -- you can make out éertain
physical -- like the names. And the dates and stuff like
this, but yoﬁ can't reallf make it out.

Q. But you saw that in the discovery material that the
State gave to . your attorney?

A. Yeah, the pictures, yes, ma'am. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Okay. All riéht. And your next issue that you took
with his representation was he failed to protect your
right to seek a direct appeal and also failed to sign you
up for indigent --- | |

A, Indigent.

Q. Yeah, indigent. I always mess the word up. Indigent
Defense to represent you on an appeal? .

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Can you explain to the Court what you mean he didn't
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file your direct abpeal?

Well, I think the thing that he filed is called a

A,

Q. A notice fo ~-——

A. Yeah. ‘

Q. ~--— to apbeal?

A.. Yeah, a notice. He filed a notice to appeal, but he
didn't like -- like, all right. He did file a notice to

appeal, but like he didn't write a brief for it or he
didn't sign me&up for Indigent Defense counsel. And from
my understandihg like a ain't have a ground -- I don't
have a ground to stand on the law, but I mean I know the
Sixth Amendmeni says.that I have a right to have counsel
at every step of the way in the judicial process.

So, therefore, 1f you my attorney and you knew you
wasn't going to represent me on this appeal then you
should have signed me up for Indigent Defense. But by you .
not signing me, up it violated the Sixth Amendment. As
least that's.hbw I'm looking at it. I could be looking at
it wrong. I mean if I am y'all let me know.

THE COURT: Well, I'll end that right now. That's
not a ground. ;Doésn't work that way in South Carolina.

He did everyth#ng ﬁe-was supposed to if he filed the
notice. One the trial attorney or the plea attorney signs
a notice he is' under no other obligation because Appellate

Defense in Colﬁmbia takes over then. But
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BY MS. MOODY:
Q. You recall us discussing that, correct?.
A. Um hum.
Q. Where he'Was_only supposed to file the notice of
appeal?
A. Un hum.

COURT REPORTER: Yes oOr no?

THE WITNESS: Yes, ma'am. Yes, ma'am.
BY MS. MOODY:
Q. Okay. 5o is there any other thing that your attorney
failed to do that you feel like he should have done in
representing you? |
A. I got two other issues thét I had wanted to touch on
that I wanted to talk about because I ~- he advised me
that I would be -- erroneous advice concerning my parole
eligibility or me being 85 percent. And, well, matter of
fact I'm just going to read it cause I wrote it down.
Q. What ;— let me stop you right there. When you say,
'he failed to give you proper advice', ‘as to which charge
because as to pOSSession of marijuana that carried up to a
year, correct?
A. Um hum.

COURT REPORTER: Yes or no?

THE WITNESS: Yes, ma'am.

BY MS. MOODY: "
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Q. All righﬁ. “And as to the distribution of marijuana
within proximity of a school or park, that carries up to
ten years, correct? |
A. Yes, ma'am.
Q. So the charges that you're talking about is the
distribution qf marijuana which carries fiye to 20 years?
A. I'm talking about the charges in the whole. Just
like he was séying that I would have to serve 85 percent
of the sentencé. Like it was a non-parolable offense or a
violent éffensé when due to the Omnibus Crime Reduction in
Sentence Reform Act if my charge was a violent offense
that made it nb longef be a violent offense.

I'm not a violent offender, so therefore, I wouldn't
have to serve 85 percent of my sentence before I'm
eligible for pbrole. Like the Judge'just stated when we
first came in here I would be going upnfor parole in like
three or four ﬁonths.. And so that was the wrong_adviée
right there.
Q. All rightﬂ Are you familiar with the statute.that
anything that carries 20 years or A, B and I believe C
felonies, if they carry 20 years up to life, that it's
85 percent?
A, I thihk.
Q. That's a aifferent section?

A. I read that, but when the Omnibus in 2010, that
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changed.

Q. Yes.

A. The Omnibus Crime Bill changed that because now those
offenses, certain.offenses that fall up under there --
that were described in the omnibus Crime Bill,-which my
offense is one of them, it don't maké -~ it's no longer
85. It's no longer a violent offense.

Q. But on a third offense, I think when you read that
Act, are you fémiliar that it says if your prior
convictionS'Were for possession and you have a
trafficking, if it was possession then you would be
eligible for parole and a suspended sentence. Afe all
your prior convictions'for possession?

A. No, theyife not, but I'm eligible for parole now, in
a couple mohths. So an 85 -- a pérsbn who 1s violent for
85 they not eligible'for parole until they done 85 percent
of their sentence.

Q. And so you're saying that your attorney should have
explained that.- to you the nuances between violent and thé

non-violent as well as anything that carries 20 Years up

to life?

A. He didn{t explain none of that to me.

Q. Did the Judge advise you of your consequences_of your
plea?

A. That 1 could.have -- like the amount of time I could
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have got?

Q. Yes.

A, Yes, ma'am.
Q. What did1—~ at the time that'yoﬁ were diséuSsing that
with your attdrney did you stop and taik to your attorney
about it? B

A, No. I méan cause I was under the impression from
what he was séying that you're going to be 85 percent.
You're going Eo be 85 percent. I'm not 85 percent. I'm
not a violent;offehder. If he was familiar with the
Omnibus Crime Bill of 2010 he would have knew fhat I
wasn't a violént offender. You know.

Q. What else is it that your attorney should have done?
A. I felt like he should have objected to when -- at the
plea proceedin@ where the Solicitor advised the Court or
the Judge, whatever, to like punishing me for exercising
my right to trial. ©Like it's against the law to'punish
somebody for ekercising their right to trial.

Q. What can'fou_tell the Judge about that specifically

cause I think that you're summarizing that? You're saying

that?
‘A. - Okay.’
Q. Your attorney should have objected to the State

making a recommendation of time or what?

A. The State didn't incident make a recommendationf The
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State, when Mr. Hayes said something about the six years

that was offered the Solicitor stepped in on Page 22 of

the transcripf, Lines 14 through 21. And she asked the
Court could she address that; Mr. Hayes' comments where he
was talking about si% years.
Q. Well, go back up to Line 14. Can you read that
correctly into the record where the Court starts?
A. Okay. I'll read that out the transcript, but I had
put down right there, too. It say --- |
Q. 4You mean Page 217
A.. No, it's’22. It's wﬂen it starts when it says, "I
understand why mitigation like this is presented, but we
would also like to address the fact that the offer was
given prior to the C.I's identify being revealed,>and that
is very important fo-the State. Citizens help us out, and
we try to make a plea offer that reflects protecting the
identify. That offer was rejected aﬁd the identify was
revealed and we‘fe here for a trial.” | |
Basically, because I chose to exercise my right to a
trial, you offered the six years or whatever because you
felt like the six years was appropriate for the qhargé.
So now because I exercised my right to a trial now you
want to punish me for exercising my right to a trial.
That's not riéht,' That's against the law. That'é a

violation of the constitution. Why have constitutional
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rights if youican‘t exercise them.

Q. So you féel like Mr. Hayes should have said something
on your behalﬁ?

A. He shoul@ have objected to the comments because it
shows from myisentencing that the Judge took in |
consideration @hat she said because he didn't giﬁe me- the
six years or dﬁdn't give me anything close to the éix-
year. He gaveﬁme'almost 11 years.

Q. And when you entered this plea was this a straight up

plea?
A, What you mean?
Q. There was no recommendation from the State as to the

amount of time?

A. No. |

Q. So when ybu decided to plea on the day of the trial
you were Jjust bleaing to the charges as charged?'

A. Yeah, becguse that's what I was advised to do.
That's what I'@as.coerced into doing.

Q. What do you mean coerced?

A. Like, basﬁcally} if you don't plea I guarantee you're
going to get 20 years or you're going to be 50 years or
it's going to be 85 percent or it's going to be a long
time before you see your family. Like things of that
nature right there.

Q. And so you feel like he was cbercing you to plea-?
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A, Basically, yeah. He intimidated me to take a plea.
Q. And so you feel that that's not the normal standard

of an attorney practicing criminal law?

A, No.

Q. And how do you feel you were prejudiced in this case
given the fact that you were facing 50 -- up to 51 years?
A. You mean how was I prejudiced by ---

Q. How were your harmed by taking ﬁhe plea?

A, Well, it wasn't really the plea that harmed me. It
was that coercion of the plea. That's what harmed me.
That's what.
Q. That's what I'm saying. I mean how did your attorney
harm your situatién from being able to walk outside this |
court house to you.being put in prison? How were you
harmed? You're saying his ineffective assistance of
counsel harmed would you in some kind of way. ﬂow did
that harm you?
A. Because, bne, I was sentenced to a longer sentence
based off his advice. And for, Two, 1f he had of loocked
at the facts of the use of an invalid conviction he would
have seen that I wasn't supposed to be charged with a
second offensei |

For, Thrée, if he had researched the case properly
and in full as far as to the chain of custody he would

have seen that there was two things missing. All these
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things right here is what prejudiced my cése. I shouldn't
be a third offénder. I shouldn't have been charged with a
third offense. I shouldn't have been convicted of a third
offense. I wés convicted to a longer sentence than I
would have been subjected to if I was convicted éf a
second offensé. Five to 20 years versus zero to teéen years

and the'senteﬁce can be suspended to probation.

Q. What relief are you seeking from the Court here
today?
A. I would like to be -- what I want is to be charged

with a second offense. I would like to get my case
overturned and be charged with a second offense like I
should have_been charged with from tﬁevstart.

Q. Well, you}realize based on what the Court told you
here today tﬁét if you staﬁt over, you're granted relief,
he cannot change anything. You Jjust start over as
charged, as yoﬁ were originally charged. That's what you’
can start over? | |
A. So you're saying that even though the second
offense -~ the second offense conviction, the invalid
conviction, you're saying that don't count?

Q. I'm not saying that's an invalid c¢onviction. I'm
saying if you éet the relief that you're requesting from
the Court here today; that your attorney was ineffective

assistance of counsel and harmed you in some kind of way
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you start over like everybody hit the reset button and
you'd start over? .

A. Okay, and they -- but they eventually would have to
charge me as a second offense because of the invalid
conviction, right?

Q. Not necessarily. That's your position. You
understand that your position is that it's invalid. But
if a Court finds that it's not invalid, which I say it's
not, you start over from the beginning as if you.were‘
arrested for the first time ever on these charges. You
understand that?

A. Yes, ma'ém.

Q. And you understand that the 61 years that was on the
table before you were going to go to trial theY're back on

the table. Do you understand that?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. And you still want the Court to grant you relief?
A. Yes, ma'an. |

Q. Okay.

MS. MOODY: No further questions for the witness,
Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Hunter.

MR. HUNTER: Your Honor.

"CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. HUNTER:
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Q. Mr. Davis} do you remember during the plea hearing
the Judge asked if you were pleading on your own free
will, and you;said, "Yes."

A, Yes, sir.

Q. ‘Do'you rémember when he said, "Are you doing so
because you aﬁé guilty of these charges,” and you said
because I don't want to do a whole bunch of time. He
explained to you that you're exposed to 61 years. And
then he askediyou, "Are you guilty of these charges," and
you said, "Yeé?"

A. Yes, sir.. That's probably plea protocol.

Q. And you remember the Judge goiné over -- or the
Solicitor going over the facts of the case as the State
alleged? Dovfou remember them going over the facts?

A. You mean like what the Solicitor said?

Q. Yeah, the-Solicitor.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you remembér what -- the Court asking if you
agree we those:facts and you said, "Yes?"

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you remember the Court asking if you were
satisfied with‘the representation of.your attorney, -and
you said, "Yes?"

A. Yes, sir.. Proper plea protocol.

Q. Okay. And also asked if you had been threatened or
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promised anything, and you said, "No?"
A. I remember that. That's whaf I had to say in order
for the Judge to accept my plea. |
Q. Okay. ©Now, any of these evidentiary issues, any
issuyes we the chain, things like that, did you bring that
to your counsel's attention before the plea? ‘
A. Like I stated when me and Miss Moody was talking
about it, until I actually researched the case myself.
that's when I started noticing the deficiencies in the
chain of custody. But I feel like him being a trained
professiconal éttorney that should have been an avenue that
he researched.
Q. I apologize. Ngw, you rejected the six year offer
from the State?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Okay.

MR. HUNTER: I have no other questions.

MS. MOODY: ©No further questions.

THE COURT: You may Qtep down. Thank you.

MS. MOODY: ©No further witnesses.

MR. HUNTER: _State will call Mr. Creighton Hayes.

CREIGHTON HAYES, after being duly sworn,

testified as follon:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. HUNTER:




72

10
11

12

13

14

15

16

17
18
19
20
21

22

- 23

24

25

Creighton Hayes - Direct by Mr. Hunter

36
Q. Good afternoon, Mr. Hayes.
A, Good afternoon.
|
Q. Now, Mr. Hayes, can you give us a brief background of

your law praéﬂice history?

A. I graduaﬁéd from the University of South Carolina
School of Law?in 2011. Clerked for Judge Alford here York
County for a gear and then worked for the Public
Defender's'Office from August of 2012 until the end of
August 2015 and I've been in private practice in Rock Hill
since September.

Q. So when you -- you were in the ?.D.‘s Office when you

were appointed for Mr. Davis?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Cap'you explain how you began your
representatioﬂ?

A. I believejit.waé initially Judith Van Sickle's, who

was the prior attorney in the office. There was a change
in persohnel at the office or a kind of realignment of
which attorney§ were in which courts, and this becamé my
case in March or early April of 2013.

After tha& he had initial charge that was -- it was
possession with intent to distribute marijuana and I think
a faulty search. It was -- the search was based on him
loitering and smelling like marijuana. We had a.

preliminary hearing. He challenged the search of that,
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and that charge waé dismissed. And I don't believe it was
ever brought back to the prosecutor. Talked about direct
indicting the charge or direct indicting the indictment,
but I don't believe there was. |

Shortly after that though found out that Mr. Davis
was charged first with the three distribution of marijuana
third charges and three proximity charges. And as well as
a simple possession of marijuana, second offense I
believe.
Q. Appfoximétely how many times, I guess in that year
leading up to your representation, how many times did you
meet with him? |
A. I took pretty good notes on how many times I met with
people. Not necessarily all of it or not necessarily
every time was noted, but I would say roughly between 15

and 20 times that we met in person or spoke on the

telephone.
Q. Could you explain what went on during those meetings?
A. Well, several of the meetings ~- one of the meetings

was initial appearance. Discuss briefly the file, what I
had received in discovery from the Solicitor at that time.
Had a multiple docket appearances. When he was on the
docket his.case was potential for trial or potentially
being called. He was on notice for trialvugtil the spring

or until December or January of 2014.
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But would have been docket roll calls. Would have
been discussing the evideﬁce that we were receiving from
the State as ﬁhe case went along. Discussing the plea
offer that was made in the case which initially I believe
was seven yeaﬁs. -After some finagling with the
Solicitor's Officevthen, eventually, it did go down. Laté
January or early February the offer went down to six
years. _

Q. And was that basically the extent'of the State's plea
offers?

A. I believe seven and six was the extent of the plea
offer, but, yes.

Q. And you conveyed that —--

A, To the best of my recollection. I did. We discussed
the seven yeafs. "That was out of the gquestion to Mr.
Davis. The -- in February I have a notation that they
called Mr. Davis on february the 11th 2014. After
receiving fhe amended plea offer from Miss Hamilton,
Assistant Solicitor, and advised him of the six year offer
Mr. Davis advised me that he was not interested.

Q. Was he adamant about taking this to trial?v

A. He was adamant about going to trial in that that.was
the only optibp we had at fhat point because he was
adamant that he wasn't taking sii yeéré, and that was the

only offer we -could get. And the discussions continued

-
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because the Solicitor's Office in York County has a policy
of making their offers contingent on not revealing the
identify of the confidential informant.

So we had a discussion that if we continued to prep
for trial and demanded that we receive.éopies of the
confidential informant information including the video
that plea offer would come off the table.

So we had multiple discussions about it. I can
recall specifiéally asking Mr. Davis to come in during
trial preparation when the offer or leading up to the
point where we were going to be going to trial, asking Mr.
Davis to come in and speak with myself, Mark McKinnon who
was an Assistant P.D. and Phil Smith, who is also a public
defender after. -- asking them to review the file, his
record the evidence in the case. | |

And in.order to try to convince him that the plea
offer essentially was pretty fair in this case and that
still did not got anywhere. So we did prep for trial. TWe
did receive the video evidence along with é redacted
statement from the confidential informant. Went over all
that with Mr. Davis during the course of trial
preparation. |
Q. Now, as far as the State's evidence goes how would
you characterize the State's evidence against ﬁim as far

as being weak or strong?
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A. We onlyAﬁeceived fuli gvidence on the one case that
they noticed f@r trial which I believe was —-- which.was
the April 5th.histributi0n of marijuana charge. And I
would characterizé the evidence as strong.

Q. Now, as far aé your discovery goes, the State's
discovery, was:there anything leading up to this blea that

was missing? That you felt like you needed or do you feel

like the State' complied fully with discovery?

A. I feel like the State complied we discovery. We --
what's been mentioned today is the chain of custody. I
did have an opportunity to inspect the marijuana in
evidence. It was a evidence log.

Certainlyé it would be my position that the
opportunity té:challenge the chain of custody would only
present itselffat trial. And, certainly, we would have
made sure that they ealled the necessary witnesses to do
so.

Q. Okay. At what point did you get the or I guess not.
At what point ?id the State allow you to plea straight up
with no recomméndation? |

A. Well, it was always our understanding that, you know,
it was a loné étanding understanding between our office
and the Soliciﬁor's Office that once they turned over the
full information on the confidential informant the offer

was off the table. I can’t recall exactly when they
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turned that over, but it.was after I informed the
Solicitor that he was not accepting the offer;.that this
was a trial, ahd they turned all the.remaiﬁing eyidence
that they had relating to the C.I.

Q. Now, did you think there were any issues with the
enhancement in this case as far as the drug offeﬁses were
concerned?

A. I think it was a complicated issue. My

- understanding, certainly as it relates to his record, he

had a trafficking cocaine in proximity charge in 2002 and
2009. The charge he ultimately pled to was simple
possession of marijuana second offense. My understanding
of the law is that both of those offenses -- he was
represented by counsel. I don't thiﬁk he did time on
neither, but I think on both of those éharges are capable
of being used to enhance the charges that I represented
him on.

Q. So you didn't believe that the State was acting
inappropriately?

A. No, I didn't feel that they were acting

inappropriately.
Q. Ckay.
A. I think that issue had been ~- that issue is somewhat

murky. I certainly don't necessarily believe that they

aught to use simple possession of marijuana, but I think
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they can.

Q. Okay. Aﬁ'the plea hearing did you believe‘that he
understood evgrything that was going on that day?

A.  Yes. Deﬁinitély.

Q. And he was aware that he was pleading without
recommengation freely and voluntarily.

A. He was aware that as soon as we received all the
evidence on tHé C.I. his offer was off the table; that any
plea after thaﬁ would be straight up. -

Q. Okay. Is there anything else in this case that you

feel like you should have done that you did not do?

‘A. No. I mean that I wish that I could have convinced

him, as to thé;original plea offer, I think based on his
record that itiwas,a reasonable one.

And I cerfainly.don't -- not happy with the sentence
he received, but I think it was -- it could have been
anticipated under the circumstances.

Q. Okay.

MR. HUNTER: Beg the Court's inaulgence just. one

second.

BY MR. HUNTER:

Q. Did you e%er give him erroneous advice concerning the
parole eligibility?

A, ‘ My understanaing on his parole eligibility would be

based on his record,. containing a trafficking in cocaine
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offense. Not as concerned about the simple possession of
marijuana conviction, but my understanding at the time was
that the Department were treating third offense-
distribution of marijuana charges with that type of a. past
record as far as max out date at 85 percent. |

I doﬁ't remember advising him that he would not be
parole eligiblé, but that if he did receive parole that he
would have to serve 85 percent in order to max out his
sentence; I believé is my advice.

Q. Just lastly, did you ever coerce him or threaten him

to plead guilty that day?

A. No, I did not coerce him to plead guilty. I think we
were prepared for trial. I certainly did everything that

I knew to do and, you know, believed was appropriate to do
in preparing for trial. |

I did stress to him the judge it was in front of, my
awareness of the judge; that if we went through wifh the
trial and that if the judge, you know, anybody who does
criminal law, you know, if the judge felt like this was a
needless trial, I did tell him.

I advised the judge's sentence would be worse aftér a
full trial rather than pleading guilty'at'the commencement
of the trial.

Q. So all and all you believe that pleading guilty was

in his best interest?

79
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a. I still do.
Q. Okay. Né.further questions. Thank you.
CROSSfEXAMINATION
BY MS. MOODY:
Q. Mr. Hayeé, as to the invalid conviction I think you

said the law was pretty murky. .What I if anything did yoﬁ
all, you and Mr. Davis, discuss about his.prior record?

Do you recallé 

A.- Well, we discussed that in 2002 in addition to me we.‘
discuss the fact that he had a trafficking in cocaine-
charge conviction where he received five years. ‘He aléo
in addition I think non-drug offense. Had a couple of
weapons chargeé. I think it was a pointing and
presenting. Iﬁm not sure. I think they were gun related
charges that he was given concurrent sentences to the
trafficking.

We discussed the simple possession of marijuana
second offense conviction. Exactly what your question,
but we did diséuss those? and that I believed ﬁhey could
be used to make these third offenses. |
Q. Thaﬁ's what I'm trying to get at. I want to know if
y'all discusseg the use of ~--—-

A. Yes.,
Q. --- the simpie possession?
A

Yes.
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Q. And do your recall you -- earlier you testified that
yoﬁ had, I think it was Phil Smith, Mark McKinnon, review
the file?

A. Yes. First we reviewed the lead. We talked about
it. They, you know, looked at his record, looked at the
cases. And we discussed it prior to Mr. Davis céming into
the office at which point all three of us -- all four bf
us sat in the'éffice, and I basically was trying to get

Mr. Davis' second, third opinion so that he didn't think

that my advise was bad or that, you know, this you know, I

might be getting different advice from a different
attorney.

Q. So after he declined the offer and you all

prepared -- well, you were preparing.for trial along the
way. On the date of this plea were yoﬁ prepared to go

forward with a trial?

A. Yes, we prepared for trial.
Q. And when you discussed with him the offer, I believe
you testified earlier that you didn't -- were you -- how

did -~ how did you present that he needed to plea on that
did and did he come back to you and say she wanted to
plea? What happened?

A. TIt's hard to recall. His mother was real involved.
She -- at some-point prior Mr. Davis.-- I would say it

this way. He put on a good poker face the entire time I




82

10

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19

20

21

22
23
24

25

Creighton Hayes - Cross by Ms. Moody
‘ 46

represented him. He did not appear to be afraid at all of
the consequenées of going to triél.

Prior tokthe'trial beginning to me it appeared that
he got nerﬁous. At some point he talked to his mother
without me being in the presence. And after that I don't
recall exactly, he showed some interest in pleading. And,
you know, it's not a matter of trying to strong arm
somebody into pleading. I discussed the entire time that
I thought going to trial with the evidence as stfong as it
was. was a bad idea.

And that even though we were on the cusp of the trial
I still thought he could get a better sentence that if we
had gone through with it.

Q. So did yoh ask the Solicitor to consider giving the
offer, the originai offer, of six years?

A. Yeah, and it's strange because the Solicgitor changgd
from Marina Haﬁilton to Ginny Desche. At some point she
handed it off to Ms. Desche to try it. I did ask Ginny to
put the offer back on the table, and she wouldn't do>that.
So, yeah, I did ask, but it wasn't a possibility at that
point. Like T said there is a policy about after turﬁing
over all the C.I. evidence they won't put it back on the
table. |

Q. So after you talk to Ginny Desche about putting this

plea back on the table did would inform Mr. Davis of that;
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that the offer was off the table?

A, Right. 1I'd informed him that the offer -- the plea,
it would be without recommendation.

0. So what happened after that? Did y'all have more -~
did y'all continue to have -- obviously, y'all ultimately
went before the Judge and he pled, but --- '

A. Ultimately, what happened was —-- I don't mean- to cut
you off. I tOid Ginny that he was amenable to pleading,
and she indicated that he would have to plead in order for
them not to call the additional charges that were pending.
For them, basically, to bring him back from the Department
if he received a sentence, which he was almost certain to
do, you know, if they weren't satisfied with it they could
bring him back.

So the deal was he would plead to'two sets of
distribution in proximity and a simple possession and the
rest of the remaining charges that were still pending
would be dismissed.

Q. Okay. ASo originally there were three sets of
distributions and two simple possessions?

A, That's my recollection.

Q. One charge was dis -- one simple possession was
dismissed at the preliminary hearing? |

A. I think it was a P.W.I.D., but,.yeah.

Q. Okay. So one charge was dismissed at the preliminary
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hearing?

A, Correct.

Q. And thenithe'other charge, other two charges, the
other set of distributions and prox charge was dismissed
based upon hiﬁ pleading?

A. Right. Qe pled to five, and I think there were two

still remaining, simple possession.

Q. Right. So in all total three charges wént away

during your representation?

A. That's correct.

Q. Okay. ﬁaw, as to thé chain of custody I belieﬁe you
testified on that issue already and stated that you felt
like that would have been something you would have
challenged during the trial, correct?

A. I would have ﬁade sure that the State bore the burden
of establishing a sufficient chain of custody, certainly.
But I didn't héve any knowledge or reason to believe that
there was anything deficient about theichain of custody,
and I don't believe it's until the State has the
opportunity to establish that during their case in chief
that I would-héve any chance to challenge it, per se."

Q. So as to fhe -- and the weight of the marijuana
changed? Did you discuss that with Mr. Davis?

A. I believéiwe‘did. I mean it negligible change, and I

think there are a variety of reasons. Judge indicated
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that it could have been field tested.‘ Marijuana also can
be moist at the time it's obtained and can dry out which
can cause a small change of weight. And some of it could
have been used when the chemist test. I don't kﬁow. I
remember there being a slight change in weight, but not a
noticeable, something glafing that we could point to the
jury that something was strange here.

Q. So you didn't have any reason to beiieve that it's --

the drugs had been altered -- by the State been altered

intentionally?

A. No.

Q. To tamper with evidence?
A. No.

Q. As to the appeal you filed a notice of appeal and you
filed explanation as to the appeal, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Did you discuss the appeal possibility wiﬁh Mr.
Davis? |

A. I believé after the sentence I talked to him. He
said he did want to appeal. I told him I would file the
necessary paperwork.

0. He said he did want to appeal?

A Said he did want to appeal, yeah.
Q. Okay.
A

So we filed the necessary paperwork.
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Q. So when Qou offered your explanation did yoﬁ feel
there was any merit to the appeal?
A. No. |
Q. Buf you did what he asked you to do?
A. I believe it's his right to have an appeal.
Q. So did you discuss with him whether or not you would
be representing him?
A. I don't recall whether we discussed whether I would

be representing him.

Q. But at the time you were a public defender. Is that
normal practice for you to represent —--—-

A. No. Appellate Defense would do that.

Q. Now, on Page 21 of the transcript -~ do you have a
copy of the trénséript? |

A. Yes. |

Q. Could youiplease turn to Page 21, and look at Line 19
through 25 -- Lines 19 through 25. And can you explain
what you were frying to address with 85 pércent?

A. Yeah, I think that's a bit of a-maybe a word coming
out of my mouth incorrectly. What I was trying to state
is that I believe that the Department would treat it. 1In
order to max it ouf, so i1f he didn't receive paréle, I
believe he wouid end up serving 85 percent of his
sentence.

Q. And that'é‘base on the Omnibus ---
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A. Yeah, that's based on —--
Q. -—-— changes?
A, Yeah, and it's based on my understanding of some

cbmmunications-between various attorneys and attorneys
that represent the Department of Corrections and.that
that's the way they.were treating third foensé marijuana
distributioﬁ Wﬁen.the prior convictions coptain other

distribution level offenses.

0. Okay. So if I'm correct hearing what you're saying

the Department of Corrections was treating those level
offenses was that the person may be parole eligible but if

they don't make parole then they would serve 85 percent

thereafter?

A. That was my understanding, yeah.

0. Okay. So that's what you were trying to say here on
Page 2172 |

A. Right. I 'was trying to stress to the Court that any
sentence you gave‘him was going -- he was going to serve a
substantial portion of it. More than -- most likely more
than, you know, shoplifting third offense or something of
that nature. And in a way to try to get the judge to come
down on the total sentence understanding that he was gbing
to serve the méjority of it.

Q. So going back to the appeal, did you receive notice

that Mr. Davis' appeal was. dismissed?
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A. Yeah, I'm.certain I did.

in the file.

Q. Did you i

A.- I don't ﬁ

don't recall 4
\

Q. Do you kn
appellate coun

A, Robert Du

Q. All right.

appellate Couﬂ
been appointe&
A. Right.
Q. .Okay. Ok

sign him up fo

normally do?

Yeah, I have the order here

nform Mr. Davis Of‘thaf?

ecall sending a letter to Mr. Davis. I

oing that, no.

ow if he was represented at-that time by
sel?

dack is copied on the order.

And when'you say, 'Robert Dudack’

sel would have been —-- he would haVé'already
"to them?
ay. Mr. Davis testified that you didn't

r indigent defense. Was that something you

A. No. We would file a notice of appeal, and frankly, I

don't know how -- exactly how Indigent Defense or

Appellate Defe

nse receives it. But ﬁhatAwould not be --

normally I would not file a brief or, you know, do any of

the actual appellate work on it. I would preserve his

right to appea

there.

that sends out the'letter?

mail?

\
1l and Appellate Defense would take over from

Q. Are you a%aré -— well, actually, are you the person

Do you actually put it in the
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A. No.
Q. You just do the —---
A. I just'—- we have two people in our-office,.Jéckie
Davis and Felicia Whiteside, who they would handle the
paperwork. '
Q. So you wouldn't disagree with me that they would send
a copy of that to Sharon Graham at the Séuth Carolina
Office of Indigenf Defense?
A, I wouldn't diéagree with that. I don't know exactly

who they send it to, but I wouldn't disagree.
Q. Okay.

MS. MOODY: Beg the Court's indulgence. No furthér
questions for this witness. Thank you.

MR. HUNTER: Nothing else for this witness, and no
other witnesses for the State.

THE COURT: All right. Proposed orders in 30 days.
Thank y'all.

END OF TRANSCRIPT OF RECORD
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evidence intrdduced in the trial of the captioned case,
relative to appeal, in the Court of Common Pleas for York
County, South Carolina, on the 20th day of January, 2016.

I do further certify that I am neither of kin,

counsel nor inﬁerest to any party hereto.

October 2, 2016




STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
: ) OF THE SIXTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
COUNTY OF YORK ) o
) 2015-CP-46-0777
Dennis Davis, Jr., ) =}
8.C.D.C. No. 288558, ) < 2 .
» : ) 2% =
Applicant, ) 7'-5; =] 5
. )  ORDER OF DISMISSAL 2R
V. ; a go‘?,i E
1\
State of South Carolina, ; -%m% ‘%
Respondent, )
)

This matter comes before the Court by way of an Application for Post-Conviction Relief

(PCR) filed March 12, 2015. Respondent made its Return on or about August 7, 2015. An
evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on January 20, 2016, at the Moss Justice
Center in York, South Carolina. Applicant was present at the hearing and represented by Lesh
Moody, Esquire. Justin Hunter, Esciuire, of the South Carolina Attomney General's Office
represented Respondent. At the hearing, Applicant testified on his own behalf. Applicant's plea
counsel, Creighton Hayes, Esquire, testified. This Court had bet‘bre it a copy of Applicant's
records from the York Count} Clerk of Court, Applicant's records from the South Carolina

Department of Corrections, the plea transcript, Applicant's PCR Application, and Respondent's
Retumn.

1. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Applicant is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant
to orders of commitment of the York County Clerk of Court.’ Applicant was indicted at the
August 2013 term of the York County Grand Jury for Possession of Marijuana (2013-GS-46-

2964), two charges of Distribution of Marijuana In Proximity of a School (2013-GS-46-2966, -
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2969), and two charges of Di‘stribution of Marijuana-Third Offense (2013-GS-46-2970, -2971).

\
Applicant was represented by Creighton Hayes, Esquire (hereinafter "Counsel"). On May 21,

2014, Applicant pled guilty a‘s indicted before the Honorable G. Edward Welmaker. He was

|

sentenced to a term of jmprispnment for one year for Possession of Marijuana, a term of five

years for each charge of Distribution of Marijuana In Proximity of a Scﬁool, and a term of ten

i
years and five months for eacl;l charge of Distribution of Marijuana-third offense. All sentences

N |
were {0 run concurrently. |

Applicant timely filed a notice of appeal. By Order filed February 11, 2014, the South

Carolina Court of Appeals disx‘nissed Applicant's appeal for failure to file sufficient explanation
| :
as required by SCACR 203(d)( ‘l)(B)(iv). The Remittitur was sent September 5, 2014,
In this PCR action, Abplicant alleged he is being held unlawfully for the following

reasons: o |

1. Ineffective l}ssistance of Guilty Plea Counsel
a, "Faxlure to challenge the use of an invalid conviction”
b, “leure to challenge the sufficiency of the chain of
custody
c. "Fa:lure to protect my rights to seek a direct appeal.
Also failure to sign me up with the indigent defense to

repre‘sent me on appeal.”

|
II. | SUMMARY OF THE TESTIMONY

|

|

Applicant's Testimony

|
Applicant testified that he bonded out and met with Counsel a couple times before his

plea. He testified that he pave ?ounsel his side of the story and told him that he did not want to
plead guilty. He testified that a six year offer came right before trial but he rejected this offer. He
further testified that Counsel and the State were trying to scare him to plead guilty, and that he

believed the State was pmishimé him for exercising his right to trial, Applicant also testified that
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he thought he would be parole eligible but found out that he would have to serve eighty-five
percent before being parole eligible.

Applicant said that he had an issue with the chain of custody, testifying that there were
key docu.ments missing and that the drugs had been altered. He testified that he got a copy of the
discovery but that Counsel did not review it with him,

Applicant testified that Counsel failed to seek his appellate rights by failing to sign him
up with the Office of Indigent Defense.

Counsel's Testimony

Counse! testified that he met with Applicant fifteen to twenty times prior to the plea. He
testified that he received everything in discovery and shared this with Applicant, including video
evidence and a statement. Counsel testified that he believed the State's evidence against
Applicant to be strong. He testified that the State first presented a plea offer of seven years, then
an offer of six years. Counsel testified that after Applicant rejected the six year offer, Counsel
asked the State to put the offer back on the table. He testified that the plea offer eventually turned
to a straight up plea offer because the information concerning the State's confidential informant
was revealed. He testiﬁed. that York County has a policy whereby the revelation of the
confidential informent’s identity negates a plea offer. Counsel testified that he believed pleading
guilty was in Applicant's best interest and he believed Applicant understood everything involved
with the plea. Counsel, testified that he had two of his colleagues give Applicant a second and
third opinion regarding whether to plead guilty or go to trial and that they both thought Applicant
should plead guilty.

Counse! testified that he discussed with Applicant the fact that his prior convictions of

trafficking crack cocaine and simple possession of marijuana (second or subsequent offense)
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could be used to enhance his offenses to possession of marijuana second offense and distribution

of marijuana third offense. I-“{e testified that the prior conviction of possession of marijuana
second or subsequent offense Tay have had issues, but admitted that both prior convictions were ‘
properly used to enhance the cu:m-ent offenses,

éounsel testified that hjle had no issues with the chain of custody and no reason to tlunk
that it might be defective. He aialso testified that any issues regarding the weight were immaterial
because any small and were pnfibably the result of field testing,

Counsel testified that llm informed the Court in mitigation to consider a low sentence
bt.ecause if he did not geta pa:o&eablé sentence then he would have to serve eighty-five percent of

whatever sentence he received. He testified that he discussed this with Applicant.

Counsel testified that he filed Applicant's notice of appeal and a Rule 203(B) explanation

stating that he did not have a|good faith basis to appeal the sentence. He testified that public
\

defenders do not have a duty to sign applicants up for Appellate Defense. He testified that he
| .

received the notice that Applic;mt's appeal was dismissed and that Robert Dudek of the Office of

Appellate Defense was copied on it.

|
. IL  APPLICABLE LAW

|
|
In a post-conviction relief action, the applicant bears the burden of proving the

allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the

application alleges ineffective Tassistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the Applicant must

prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process

that the trial cannot be relied u‘pon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington,

466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 692 (1984); Butler, 334 S.E.2d 813.
\
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The proper measure of performance is whether the attomey provided representation
within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counsel
rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable
professional judgment. Strickland, 466 U.S. 668. Applicant must overcome this presumption in
order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of
counsel. Id. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625. First, the applicant must prove counsel's performance was
deficient. Id. Under this prong, courts measure an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness
under prevailing professional norms.” Id, (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, any
deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable
probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have
been different.” ]d, at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. With respect to guilty plea counsel, the
applicant must show that there is a reasonable probabifity that, but for counsel's alleged errors, he
would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S.
52 (1985). |

To be knowing and voluntary, a plea must be entered with a full understanding of the
charges and the consequences of the plea. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 243-44 (1969);
Dover v, State, 304 8.C. 433, 434, 405 S.E.2d 391, 392 (1991). When determining issues relating
to guilty pleés, the court will consider the entire record, including the transcript of the guilty

plea, and the evidence presented at the post-conviction relief hearing. Anderson v. State, 342

S.C. 54, 57, 535 S.E.2d 649, 657 (2000) (citing Harres v. Leeke, 282 S.C. 131, 318 S.E.2d 360

(1984)). When a defendant pleads guilty on the advice of counsel, the plea may only be attacked
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through a claim of ineffective ?ssistance of counsel, Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C. 16, 20, 546 S.E.2d
417, 419 (2002) (citations omitted).
|
IV. FINDII\‘IGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW -

This Court has reviewe‘d the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing, observed the

|

witnesses presented at the hearing, passed upon their credibility, and weighed the testimony

accordingly. Further, this Court has reviewed the Clerk of Court records regarding the subject

|

convictions, the plea transcrigt, Applicant's records from the South Carolina Department of

Corrections, the application fcjn post-conviction relief, and the legal arguments made by the

J
attomneys. Pursuant to S.C. QOde Ann. § 17-27-80 (2003), this Court makes the following

|
findings of fact based upon all c;>f the probative evidence presented.

As a matter of general :impression, this Court finds Applicant's testimony and assertions
\
to be not credible. In contrast, this Court finds Counsel's testimony to be credible and persuasive

on all matters. These credibility findings have been applied to the Court's findings and

conclusions set forth below. i
ineffeetive Assistance of Counsel

This Court finds that Applicant failed to meet his burden of proving that his plea counsel
was ineffective. This Court finds Applicant's attomc;y demonstrated the normal degree of skill,
knowledge, professional judgment, and representation that are expected of an attomey who
practices criminal law in Soutlh Carolina. State v. Pendergrass, 270 S.C. 1, 239 S.E.2d 750

(1977); Strickland, 466 U.S. at F68; Butler, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813.

First, this Court finds th;at Applicant has failed to prove that Counsel was ineffective for

failing to challenge the use of ‘Applicnnt's prior convictions. Counsel testified that Applicant's

|
prior convictions for trafficking crack cacaine and simple possession of marijuana (second or
T
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subsequent offense) were properly used to enhance his current offenses. Applicant has presented
no evidence to show that his prior convictions were improperly used against him or that
Counsel's performance was deficient. Furthermore, Applicant has failed to show that he was
prejudiced, as he has failed to show that he would not have pled but would have gone to trial but
for Counsel's alleged errors. Accordingly, this allegation must be dismissed.

Next, this Court finds that Applicant has failed to show that Counsel was ineffective for
failing to challenge the sufficiency of the chain of custody. First, Applicant was properly
informed during his guilty plea that by pleading guilty he would give up his right to challenge
the State's evidence and Applicant informed the court that he understood that waiver of rights.
Counsel testified that he had no justifiable reason to challenge the chain of custody and
Applicant has presented no veritable evidence of defects in the chain of custody. This Court finds
that Counsel provided effective assistance in this regard and Applicant has failed to meet his
burden of proving otherwise. Additionally, this Court finds that Applicant was not prejudiced by
any alleged deficiency as he has failed to show that he would have gone to trial but for Counsel's
alleged errors, Accordingly, this allegation must be dismissed.

This Court also finds that Applicant has failed to show that Counse] was ineffective for
not signing him up with Appellate Defense. This Court finds, and the record reflects, that
Caunsel followed the proper procedure for appealing a guilty plea by filing a notice of appeal
and a Rule 203(B) explanation. Applicant has failed to show that Counsel was ineffective in this
regard and, accordingly, this allegation must be dismissed.

All Other Allegations
As to any and all allegations that were raised in the application or at the hearing in this

matter and not specifically addressed in this Order, this Court finds the Applicant failed to
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present any testimony, argument, or evidence at the hearing regarding such allegations.
Accordingly, this Court finds tine Applicant has abandoned any such allegations.
V. CONCLUSION

Based on the forego'ing%, the Court finds and concludes Applicant has not established any
constitutional violations. or defarivations that would require this Court to grant his applicatio.n. .
Applicant failed to dehomtmte Counsel's performance was unreasonable under. prevailing
professional norms. Cherry, 30‘0 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625; Stalk v. State, 383 S.C. 559,
563, 681 S.E.2d 592, 594 (2069). Therefore, this application for post-conviction relief must be
denied and dismissed with prejudice.

The Court notes Applicant must file and serve a notice of appeal within thirty (30) days
from PCR counsel's receipt of wﬁtten notice of entry of judgment to secure the appropriate
appellate review. See Rule 203, SCACR. Pursuant to Austin v. State, 305 S.C. 453, 409 S.E.2d
395 (1991), Applicant has ari ght to appellate counsel's assistance in seeking review of the denial
of post-conviction relief. Rule 71.1(g), SCRCP, provides that if Applicant wishes to seek
appellate review, PCR counsel must serve and file a notice of appeal on Applicant’s behalf.
Applicant is directed to South Carolina Appellate Court Rule 243 for appropriate procedures for

appesl.

It §1gnamre Block on Following Page]
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IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT:

1. The Application for Post-Conviction Relief is denied and dismissed
with prejudice; and

2. Applicant shall remain in the custody of the South Carolina
Department of Corrections to complete service of his sentence.

AND IT IS SO ORDERED this é & day of , 2016.

W

PauL M. BURCH
Presiding Judge
Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

Qéi,% South Cerolina
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After being fully- ddwsed astomy .

DOCKET NO.  2013:65-46-0y) Alety

The State of South Carolina
County of York

WITNESSES

COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

August 22, Term 2013

THE STATE

ARREST WARRANT NUMBER
VS.

2013A4620302202

DENNIS ROGER DAVIS JR. AKA.
DENNIS RODGER DAVIS JR.

I

ACTION OF GRAND JURY

TRUE REL

legat rights, | hereby waive. presentment
to the Grand: Jury.

Defendant

\e.—«rur fla .)c.v'\-" /\rf‘

hereby appear in my own. proper person and plead
‘guilty to:the within indictment or to:

efendant

J
gz;rtipersorr of Graﬁ/d ury @ [ 5o / 3

Indictment for

VERDICT
POSSESSION OF MARISUANA

§€ Code: 44—53-370(d)(4)
CDR Code: 0182

u‘

Foreperson of-Petit Jury
Date::
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[

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA) | INDICTMENT
) ,
COUNTY OF YORK )

At a Court of General Sessions, convened on August 22, 2013, the Grand Jurors
of York County present upon thelr oath:

POSSESSION OF MARIJUANA
\

| | .
On or about April 16, 2013, the Defendant, Dennis Roger Davis Jr. aka Dennis

Redger Davis Jr., did knov‘vingly or intentionally possess marijuana, a controlled

“substance. This offense is Defendant's second or subsequent as defined in Section 44-

53-470, Code of Laws of Souith Carolina. Said incident occurred in York County, South

Carolina all in violation of Section 44-53-370 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina,
(1976, as amended).

Against the peace and
case made and provided.
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R WiTNESSES-
YCMDEU\Avidon

dc

ARREST WARRANT NUMBER
2013A4610200213

i

—— —
—— — ———

ACTION OF GRAND JURY

TR B8 L

VERDICT

Foreperson of Petit Jury
Date:

DOCKETNQ. | 2013-6848- DQ (o0

.The State of South Carolina
County of York

COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

August 22, Term 2013

II
|
|

THE STATE

VS.

DENNIS RODGER DAVIS JR, AKA
DENNIS ROGER DAVIS JR.

Indictment for

DISTRIBUTION OF MARIJUANA IN PROXIMITY

OF A SCHOOL

SC Code: 44-53-445(A)
CDR Code: 0107

y After being 'ruliy adwsed asi{d my - o
“legal rights, | hereby waive presen’tment .

to the Grand Jury

Defendant

e amis R. Deuvig #’3}',
hereby appear in my own proper person and plead
guilty to the within'indictrent or to

(M&A@

Defendant

€01
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA) INDICTMENT

COUNTY OF YORK )
|
|

At a Court of Genera‘l Sessions, convened on August 22, 2013, the Grand Jurors

of York County present upon their oath:

DISTRIBUTION OF MARIJUANA
'IN PROXIMITY OF A SCHOOL

On or about April 5,l2013 the Defendant Dennis Rodger Davis Jr. aka Dennis

Roger Davis Jr., did, with knowledge that he was ‘within a one half mile radius of the

grounds of Clinton Junior College distribute, sell, purchase, manufactli’é or unlawfully
possess with intent to dlst‘nbute marijuana, a controlled substance, within a one-half
mile radius of the gro’unds; of Clinton Junior College, a public or private elementary,

middle or secondary school; a public playground or park; a public vocational or frade

school or technical educational center; or a public or private college or university located

in York County, South Carolina. Said incident occurred in York County, South Carolina

all in violation of Section 44;#53-445 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, (1976, as

amended).

Against the peace a
case made and provided.
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DOCKET NO.  2013-6546- 3 (LA

. WITNESSES
_YCMDEU\Avidon The State of South Carolina
County of York
COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
August 22, Term 2013
“de _
' ARREST WARRANT NUMBER
2013A4610200175 THE STATE
VS.
ACTION OF GRAND JURY DENNIS RODGER DAVIS JR. AKA
DENNIS ROGER DAVIS JR.
TRUE B

Foreperson of Gfghd Jury
Date: @h 5/ I, / /_3
B —————
VERDICT
Foreperson of Petit Jury
Date:

Indictment for

DISTRIBUTION OF MARIJUANA
IN PROXIMITY OF A SCHOOL

SC Code: 44-53-445(A)
CDR Code: 0107

\

After being fully advised as to my
legal rights, | hereby waive presentment
to the Grand Jury.

Defendant

| b.g&t ;s B. Deanir ’ T
hereby appear in my own proper person and plead
guilty to the within indictment or to

Wewnd 0,

Befendant

SO1
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA INDICTMENT

N gt “amp?

COUNTY OF YORK ‘
' i

|

At a Court of General Sessions, convened on August 22, 2013, the Grand Jurors
of York County present upon their oath:

‘ .
. ‘ o 4 .
DISTRIBUTION OF MARIJUANA IN PROXIMITY OF: A SCHOOL
\ ' :
On or about March 8, 2b13, the Defendant, Dennis Rodger Davis Jr. aka Dennis
Roger Davis Jr., did, with kno‘wledge that he was within a one half mile radius of the

grounds of Winthrop Universi‘ty, distribute, sell, purchase, manufacture, or unlawfully

possess with intent to distribute marijuana, a controlled substance, within a one-halif
mile radius of the grounds of Winthrop University, a public or private elementary, middle
or secondary school; a public blayground or park; a public vocational or trade school or
technical educational center; or a public or private college or university located in York
County, South Carolina. Said |incident occurred in York County, South Carolina all in
violation of Section 44-53-445 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, (1976, as

amended). |

Against the peace and
case made and provided.




- . ‘ - DOCKET NC. 2013-5S-46- 09\(\"\0 After being fully advised as tomy: -
' T " legal rights, | hereby waive presentment
WITNESSES to the Grand Jury.

- _YCMDEUvidon ___ ' The State of South Carolina

County of York

Defendant’

. ] 1 -Ba.f\\'\‘\“ (\?--Be.\l\\r,:—r(-c
) hereby appear in my own proper person and plead
COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS guilty to the within indictment or ta

August 22, Term 2013

ARREST WARRANT NUMBER

Defendant
2013A4610200176 : : . THE STATE "
¥S.
ACTION OF GRAND JURY DENNIS RODGER DAVIS JR. AKA
DENNIS ROGER DAVIS JR.
= -y

A =

= 7 Grand{J
Dc;;z;:)erson of Grand{Jury E / 5 / /7

Indictment for
DISTRIBUTION OF MARIJUANA
SC Code: 44-53-370(b)(2)
. CDR Code: 0188
Foreperson of Petit Jury :

Date:
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA INDICTMENT

N s

COUNTY OF YORK

|
At a Court of General Sessions, convened on August 22, 2013, the Grand Jurors
of York County present upon thelr oath;

DISTRIBUTION OF MARIJUANA

On or about March 8, 2013, the Defendant, 'Dennis Rodger Davis Jr. aka Dennis
Roger Davis Jr., did manufacture distribute, dispense, deliver, purchase, aid, abet,
attempt or conspire to manufacture distribute, dispense, deliver, or purchase, or
possess with the intent to l’nanufacture, distribute, dispense, deliver, or purchase
marijuana, a Schedule | controlled substance. Said incident occurred in York Countil, ,
South Carolina all in violation of Section 44-53-370 of the Code of Laws of South
Carolina, (1976, as amended)

Against the peéce and| dignity of the State, and

case made and provided. | / / ,
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_ WITNESSES
" YCMDEW\Avidon

dc

e — A e ———————————————
v

ARREST WARRANT NUMBER
2013A4610200214

ACTION OF GRAND JURY

TRUE BILEL

Foreperson of Gran@”’y A/ 22 /17

Date:
VERDICT

Foreperson of Petit Jury
Date:

DOCKETNG. 2013-6546- () 1)

The State of South Carolina
County of York

GCOURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

August 22, Term 2013

THE STATE

VS.

DENNIS RODGER DAVIS JR. AKA
DENNIS ROGER DAVIS JR.

Indictment for
DISTRIBUTION OF MARIUANA

SC Code: 44-53-370(b)(2)
CDR Code: 0188

|
I

After being fuilly advised as to my
lega! rights, | hereby waive presentment
to the Grand Jury.

Defendant

R .Dcfnv\i‘f £. Deads, I,
hereby appear in my own proper person and plead
guilty to the within indictment or to

%efendant

601
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLII\‘IA) INDICTMENT

COUNTY OF YORK )

|

At a Court of General Sessions, convened on August 22, 2013, the Grand Jurors
of York County present upon their oath:

| | |
DISTRIBUTION OF MARIJUANA

On or about April 5, 2013, the Defendant, Dennis Rodger Davis Jr. aka Dennis
Roger Davis Jr., did manufacture, distribute, dispense, deliver, purchase, aid, abet,
attempt, or conspire to man}ufacture, distribute, dispense, deliver, or purchase, or
possess with the intent to hnanufacture, distribute, dispense, deliver, or purchase
marijuana, a Schedule | contriolled substance. Said incident occurred in York County,
South Carolina all in violation of Section 44-53-370 of the Code of Laws of South-

Carolina, (1976, as amended).

Against the peace and dignity of the State, and contrary to the statute jn such '

case made and provided. - /
' | J/) /I d J L{ k
] ' V—L/ASSISTAWLYCTTOR




_ 11T
IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
York )

VS.
Dennis Rodger Davis Ir-

INDICTMENT/CASE#: __2013GS4602964

AWE  2013A4620302202 &7
O pDate of Offense: _4/16/2013

—

y AKA: : S

' Race: BLACK Sexx M Age:” o/y SCCode” §: 44-53-0370(d)(4)
DOB: ~ 7SSk i1k :

iy * 38R Code#: 0182
Address: . S A .

City,State,Zip7 IAFID LAMIE OH Is
DL# _ SID#: CLERK-OF quJR_T . MMQL

*CDL Yes[] No[] CMV Yes[] No[] NS PR SC § _
In disposition of the said indictment comes now the Defendant who was "~ [] CONVICTED OF or XIPLEADS
TO: POSSESSION OF MARITUANA, 2ND/SUBSEQUENT OFFENSE (0-1 YR) ' )

inviolationof § 44-53-0370(d)(4) -of the 8.C. Code of Laws, bearing CDR Code # 0182
NON-VIOLENT [] VIOLENT []SERIOUS [JMOST SERIOUS  []Mandatory GPS(CSC {11817-2545
S w/minor 1st or Lewd Act) '
The chargeis: [X] As Indicted, [JLesser Included Offense, ~[“]Defendant Waives Presentment to Grand Jury. - (defendant's initials)

| Theplea Wﬁons or Reconmendaﬁm O otiated Sentence, [ Recopmendation by the State.
ATTEST. 7 2880¢  Wowwh Nomdo Gt don  r00ed
Hmﬂ@,&dauna.B:ndarT peseln SC Bar# Defendant Attorney for Defenddnt SC Bar#

« WHEREFORE, the Defendant is commited to the State Department of Corrections, (] County Detention Center,

" for a determinate term of / . dayslmonth@ or [ under the Youthful Offender Act not to exceed . years
and/or to pay a fine of $ ; provided that upon the service of days/months/years and/or payment

of § ; plus costs and assessments as applicable*; the balance is suspended with probation for
months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard conditions of

robation, which are incorporated by reference. o @(S
MONCURRENT or  [] CONSECUTIVEtosenteiceon: 20 / 3 (&S ¢ é - 20 70 ,
[] The Defendant is to be given credit for time served pursuant to 8.C. Code § 24-13-40 to be calculated and applied
by the State Department of Corrections. .

[] The Defendant is to be placed on the Central Registry of Child Abuse and Negiect pursuant to S.C. Code §17-25-135,

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 922,it is unlawful fora person convicted of a violation of Section 16-25-20 or 16-25-65 (C:iniinal
Domestic Violence ) to ship,transport,possess,or receive a firearm or -ammunition. '

——

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:

[(JRESTITUTION: [ ] Deferred [] Def. WaivesHearing [ ]Ordered  PTUP
. Total: $ plus 20% fee: $ : days/hours Public Service Employment
1 Payment Terms: . ) Obtﬁin GED 0

[ Setby SCODPPPS Attend Voc. Rehab, or Job Corp.

— — May serve W/E begining

Recipient: : Substance Abuse Counseling O .
. *Fine: $ Random Drug/Alcohol testing . o
! £ 14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5 %) $ Fine may be pd. in equal, consecutive weekly/monthly
' § 14-1-211(A)(1) (Conv. Surcharge) $100 SO~ pmts. of § beginning -7

§ 14-1-211(A)(2) (DUI Surcharge) $100 § : , . -
. § 56-5.2995 (DUI Assessment) ‘ 512 3 $ . paid to Public Defender Bmd

§ 56-1-286 (DUI Breath Test) $25 3 Other:

Proviso 47.9 (Public Def/Prob) $500 $

§ 14-1-212 (Law Enforce. Funding) $25 8§38~

8 14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge) $150 A8 —

§ 50-21-114(BUI Breath Test Fee) $50 $ ’ :
 §56-5-2942(7) (Vehicle Assessment) $40/ca $ [] Appointed PD or appointed other cqunsel,

Proviso 90.5 (SCCJA Surcharge) $5 $ B~ § 47.12 requires $500 be paid to Cldrk’ o :

3%to County (ifpaid in installments) $ during probation. \

TOTAL ’ L 8 : Z&) - : : .

. : Presiding Judge
Clerk of Court/ Deputy gierk W‘ Judge Code:
Court Reporter: i L Q,g;g\g;_ﬁ 449, Sentence Date: 5-AF 14

SCCA/217 (03/2011) *




%SOUTH CAROLINA ‘ ' . ) . INTHE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

York' ;
VS. ) ICTMENT/CASE#: 2013GS4602966

- P , £ fOffense 4/5/2013
Roce: RpACK_ Sex M ‘ ode § : A44-53-0445B)1)
KOdBr; . B — B WA ,LngRCode# 0107 .
.St “CTERK OFX0URT —

City,State. Zin: ; 4
DA S TOYERCLOWTLSC GNBRISHAL

*CDL Yes[[] No[J] CMV Yes[] No[] Hazmat Yes[-] No[]
In disposition of the said indictment comes now the Defendant who was [J CONVICTED OF or WPLEADS
TO: DISTRIBUTION OF MARIJUANA WITHIN PROXIMITY OF A SCHOOL (0- 10 YRS) - -

in violation of  § 44-53-0445(B)(1) ___ofthe S.C. Code of Laws, bearing CDR Code #. 0107
@ NON-VIOLENT [0 VIOLENT . [SERIOUS  [JMOST SERIOUS [ ]Mandatory GPS(CSC [18§17-25-45
’ w/minor 1st or Lewd Act)
The charge is: 8 Indicted, [ JLesser Included Offense, [ JDefendant Waives Presentment to Grand Jury. (defendant's initials)

The plea is: ithout Negotiations or Reco‘mmendatxon Dthated Sentence, [ Recommendatxon by the State,

ATTEST: 72,904 / s #:b: [ ; - 160 84
Hamﬂte%iaa—Bendexa Descl.  SCBar# / Defendant Attorfley for Defend SC Bar#

|

WHEREFORE, the Defendant is comm:ted to tl"xe Mate Department of Corrections, [] County Detention Center,
for a determinate term of - 5 days/rnonths jor ] under the Youthful Offender Act not to exceed years

and/or to pay a fine of § H prvade fhat upon the service of days/months/years and/or payment

of § ; plus costs and assessments as applicable¥; the balance is suspended with probation for

months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Semces standard conditions of

probation, which are incorporated by reference. \
CONCURRENT or 'l CONSECUTIV E to sentence on:
(] The Defendant is to be given credit for tlme served pursaant to S.C. Code § 24-13-40 to be calculated and applied.

by the State Department of Corrections. ‘ j )
[] The Defendant is to be placed on the Central Reg;stty of Child Abuse and Neglect pursuant to S.C. Code §l7-25-135

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 922,it is unlawful for a person convicted of a violation of Section 16-25-20.or 16-25-65 (Cmmnal

Domostic Violence ) to shlp,transport,possess,lor receive a firearm or ammunition.
} SPECIAL CONDITIONS:

[JRESTITUTION: [ ] Deferred [ | Def. WaivesHearing [ |Ordered PTUP

Total: $ : plus 20% fee: $ , days/hours Public Service Employment
Payment Terms: - Obtain GED ] )
[] Setby SCDPPPS Attend Voc, Rehab. or Job Corp.
— N May serve W/E begining
Recipient: : : : Substance Abuse Counseling |
*Fine: ' $ Random Drug/Alcohol testing 0O
§ 14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5 %) | $ Fine may be pd. in equal, consecutive weekly/monthly
§ 14-1-211¢A)(1) (Conv. Surcharge) $100 ' S iCD— pmts. of § beginning
14-1-211(A)(2) (DU! Surcharge)” $100 $ . : :
g 5552995 (U1 Assommmont os o $__ . paidtoPublic Defender Fund
§ 56-1-286 (DUI Breath Test) $25 | 7§ Other:
Proviso 47.9 (Public Def/Prob) $500 $
§ 14-1-212 (Law Enforce. Funding) $25 $ 25~
§ 14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge) 3150 $150—
§ 50-21-114(BUI Breath Test Fee) $50 $
§ 56-5-2942(J) (Vehicle Assessment) $40/ea| § (0 Appointed PD or appointed other counsel,
Proviso 90.5 (SCCJA Surcharge) $5 $ 5 § 47.12 requires $500 bg pajd to Clerk .
3%to County (if paid in mstallments) 5 during probation.
TOTAL S0 =

. ' J * Presiding Judge .
Clerk of Court/ Deputy Clerk Judge Code: P
Court Reporter: 7 Sentence Date: 5-21-14

SCCA/217 (03/2011).
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. ) IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS |
“ York g
VS. ) INDICTMENT/CASE#:  2013GS4602969
)

_ Dennis Rodger Davis Jr A/WH#: _2013A4610200175

Lo R B N B =

: CEQTIEIED TRy C(Dgte of Offense: _3/8/2013
Race: BLACK Sex: M .

SC.Code § :_ 44-53-0445(BY1)
DOB: SS#: 2+ PR Code#: 0107
Address: I

City,State, Zip: ‘ i DAVIU HAMILTON
DL#: ' s CLERK UF CHURT seNTENERIBIN AL

' *CDL Yes[] No[] CMV Yes[] No[] Hazm Yedt > Ger - SC

In disposition of the said indictment comes now the Defendant who was O CONVICTED OF or lz]PLEADS

TO: DISTRIBUTION OF MARUUANA IN PROXIMITY OF A SCHOOL (0- 10 YRS)

in violationof § 44-53-0445(B)(1) of the 8.C. Code of Laws, bearing CDR Code # 0107

NON-VIOLENT [J. VIGLENT SERIOUS [ JMOST SERIOUS  [JMandatory GPS(CSC []§17-2545

w/minor 1st or Lewd Act)
The charge is: [}_q AsIndicted, [JLesser Included Offense, [ ]Defendant Waives Presentment to Grand Jury. (defendant's initials)
: ) iations or Recommendation, [l Negatiated Sentence, [ Recommendation by the State.
- 22806 M&k ém—o'(/vh«H-\/ L foozgg
o Matine-Rer C SC Bar# Defendant Attorfey for Defendanit SC Bar#

i WHEREFORE, the Defendant is commited to the ﬂ}énte Department of Corrections, [] County Detention Center,
* for a determinate term of ‘S days/mon * [ under the Youthful Offender Act not to exceed years
! and/or to pay a fine of $ . ;provided thatupon the service of days/months/years and/or payment

of§ . ) ; plus costs and assessments as applicable*; the balance is suspended with probation for

months/years and subjectto South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole end Pardon Semves standard conditions of .
robation, which are incorporated by reference.
CONCURRENT or [J CONSECUTIVE to sentence on: ' _
[0 The Defendant is to be given credit for time served pursuant to S.C. Code § 24-13-40 to be calculated and applied
by the State Department of Corrections.
[] The Defendant is to be placed on the Central Registry of Child Abuse and Neglect pursuant to 8.C. Code §17-25-135.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 922,it is unlawful for a person convicted of a violation of Section. 16-25-20 or 16-25-65 (Cr1minal .
Domestic Violence ) to ship,transport,possess,or receive a firearm or ammunition. , )

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
[CIRESTITUTION: [] Deferred [] Def. Waives Hearing [JOrdered  PTUP ,
 Total:  § ‘ -plus 20% fee: $ days/hours Public Service Employment
Payment Terms: : Obtain GED - [
[ Setby SCDPPPS Attend Voc. Rehab. or Job Corp.
— May serve W/E begining
Recipient: Substance Abuse Counseling O
- *Fine: $ Random Drug/Alcohol testing
+ § 14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5 %) 3 Fine may be pd. in equal, consecutive weekly/monthly,
T e
- urcharge 100 i
| § 56-5-2995 (DUI Assessment) $12 3 3 paid to Public Defender Fund
§ 56-1-286 (DUI Breath Test) $25 8§ Other:
Proviso 47.9 (Public Def/Prob) $500 $
§ 14-1-212 (Law Enforce. Funding) $25 $ s~
§ 14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge) $150 S/ —
§ 50-21-114(BUI Breath Test Fee) $50 3
§ 56-5-2942(J) (Vehicle Assessment) $40/ca § [ Appointed PD or appointed other ounsel,
Proviso 90.5 (SCCIA Surcharge) $5 $ B § 47.12 requires $500 be paid to Clerk
3%to County (if paid in installments) $ during probation. ﬂ
TOTAL $aa Y ~

' . C " Presiding Judge
Clerk of Court/ Deputy Clerk Tudge Code:
Court Reporter: hu s W ¢ Sentence Date: 5 -Q | H-

SCCA/217 (03/2011)




. : ) ) IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
York ; v
)
)
\

VS. INDICTMENT/CASE#:  2013GS4602970
Dennis Rodger Davis Jr ATW#  2013A4610200176 V*
poe e Batelof Offense:  3/8/2013

Race: BLACK Sex: M Ag RTH{ED C.Code § :; 44-53-0370(b)2)
DOB: ._..S8#: hMAR 16 WH ZCﬁﬁCode#: 0188 '

Address: )
City,State,Zip: ST e e NaVID HC\F)J‘ TOH

DL# T __ swm G ERICOE FOURT Eﬁ%ﬁf?@ NAL
*CDL Yes[] No[] CMV Yes[] No[] Hazmat Y&RiE 5 TY st -

In disposition of the said indictment comes now the Defendant who was []. CONVICTED OF or X|PLEADS
TO: DISTRIBUTION OF MARIJUANA, 3RD OFFENSE (5-20 YRS) :

inviolationof § 44-53-0370(b)(2) of the S.C. Code of Laws, bearing CDR Code # 0188 -
K NON-VIOLENT [0 VIOLENT ﬂSERIOUS [JMOST SERIOUS [[JMandatory GPS(CSC [§17-25-45
' J‘ w/minor 1st or Lewd Act)
The charge is: As Indicted, [JLesser Included Offense, [[]Defendant Waives Presentment to Grand Jury. (defendant's initials)

The plea is: Without Negotiations or Recoxrmendano O Negotlated Sentence, Recommendation by the State.
ATTES% : 7206 e, @JL)Q Ce M/‘ loa 2. ¥

HamiltbnAda:ina-BenderT peseR ~ SCBar# Defendant Attorney for Defendfnt SC Bar#
‘WHEREFORE, the Defendant is commited to the‘ Mate Department of Corrections, [ County Detention Center,

for a determinate term of / Zg days//years or [] underthe Youthful Offender Act not to exceed years
and/or to pay a fine of § ; provxded that upon the service of __ days/months/years and/or payment

of$ - ; plus costs and assessments ns applicable*; the balance is suspended with probation for

months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard conditions of
probation, which are incorporated by reference.

[0 CONCURRENT or | CONSECUTIVE to sentence on: :
[] The Defendant is to be given credit for time served pursuant to S.C. Code = § 24-13-40 to be calculated and applied
by the State Department of Corrections. \

[] The Defendant is to be placed on the Central Registry of Child Abuse and Neglect pursuant to S.C. Code §17-25-135.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 922,it is unl.awful1 for a person convicted of a vnolatioh of Section 16-25-20 or 16-25-65 (Criminal
Domestic Violence ) to shxp,trnnsport,possess,o‘r receive a firearm or ammunition.

} SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
[ IRESTITUTION: [] Deferred [ | Def. Waives Hearing [ |Ordered PTUP -
Total: § plus 20% fee: $ days/hours Public Servxce Employment
. Payment Terms: Obtain GED 0
[7] Set by SCDPPPS Attend Voc. Rehab. or Job Corp.
— ' ' . May serve W/E begining
Recipient: Substance Abuse Counseling O
*Fine: ) $ Random Drug/Alcohol testing O
§ 14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5 %) kR Fine may be pd. in equal, consecutive weekly/monthly
§ 14-1-211(A)(1) (Conv. Surcharge) $100 |5 10O — pmts.of§ ______ beginning
14-1-211(A)(2) (DUI Surcharge) $100 3 . :
g 56-5.2995 (DUI Assessment) $12 g $  paidtoPublic Defender Fund
§ 56-1-286 (DUI Breath Test) $25 TS Other:
Praviso 47.9 (Public Def/Prob) $500 $
§ 14-1-212 (Law Enforce. Funding) $25 $ -
§ 14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge) $150 ] 51SO —
§ 50-21-114(BUI Breath Test Fee) $50 TS
§ 56-5-2942(J) (Vehicle Assessment) $40/ca | § [] Appointed PD or appointed other counsel,
Proviso 90.5 (SCCJA Surcharge) $s $ A-— § 47.12 requires $500-pe paid to Clerk’
3%to County (ifpaid in mstallments) $ during probation. /
TOTAL 32 4
/ E

Presiding Judge i 3
Clerk of Court/ Depujy Clerk h-%jﬁl&u.ﬁ@__ Judge Code: AT {1 00 vnn (e, ~
Court Reporter: Sentence Date: 5. ,3 |-/ 4

SCCA/217 (03/201 1)




%ﬁ’égmn CAROLINA . ) IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS _115
Ty OF Yokt ' g _
5 STATE Vs. | INDICTMENT/CASE#: __2013GS4602971
Dennis Rodger Davia Jr ) AWE _2013A4610200214
' AKA: . _ Date of Offense: _4/5/2013
Race: = BLACK Sex: M Age: CERTFIED RQUE Bi6"Code  § : _44-53-0370(b)(2)
DOB: SS#: BT DR«ode #: 0188
Address: misw e EP3F o ‘
City,State,Zip: L LR _
DL#: SID#: A RENGNESG w1 TOH SE @ML

. *CDL Yes[] No[] CMV Yes[] No[] Hazmat Yi’ &" : gécTo\p RSTC

In disposition of the said indictment comes now the Defe

_ [1 CONVICTED OF or ﬂPLEADs
TO: DISTRIBUTION OF MARIJUANA, 3RD OFFENSE (5-20 YRS)

inviolationof § 44-53-0370(b)(2) " of the S.C. Code of Laws, bearing CDR Code # 0188
NON-VIOLENT [] VIOLENT BASERIOUS  [JMOST SERIOUS [JMandatory GPS(CSC [81725-45
. : w/minor 1st or Lewd Act)

The charge is: As Indicted, [ Lesser Included Offense,- [[JDefendant Waives Presentment to Grand Jury. {defendant's initials)

The plea is: or Recommendatio! - [ Negotiated Sentence, [] Recommendation by the State.

ATTEST: . \ N :

72806 \ O A L-{ e 1uoz 8¢

0aer 7. perc{, SCBart Defendant Attorfley for Defendéht .SCBar#

WHEREFORE, the Defendant is commited to the E]/St-ate Department of Corrections, [0 County Detention Center,

for a determinate term of / 2K days/ @ Jyearsor  [] underthe Youthful Offender Act not to exceed years

and/or to pay a fine of $ ; provided that upon the service of days/months/years and/or payment

i of § ; plus costs and assessments as applicable*; the balance is suspended with probation for

months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard conditions of
probjgtion, which are incorporated by reference. . S .
CONCURRENT or  [] CONSECUTIVE to sentence on: “Z9/ 3 Qé 2070
' [] The Defendant is to be given credit for time served pursuant to S.C. Code § 24-13-40 to be calculated and applied
by the State Department of Corrections. : )
[J The Defendant is to be placed on the C?mml Registry of Child Abuse and Neglect pursuant to S.C. Con%e §17-25-135.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 922,it is unlawful for a person convicted of a violation of Section 16-25-20 or 16-25-65 (Criminal
Domestic Violence') to ship,transport,possess,or receive a firearm or ammunition.

' . SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
: [ JRESTITUTION: [ ] Deferred [] Def. Waives Hearing [JOrdered  PTUP
, Total: $ plus20%fee: 8 days/hours Public Service Employment
| Payment Terms: - ObtainGED [
[] Setby SCDPPPS Attend Voc. Rehab. or-Job Corp.
— May serve W/E begining
Recipient: ‘ : Substance Abuse Counseling O
*Fine: $ Random Drug/Alcohol testing O
§ 14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5 %) 8 Fine may be pd. in equal, consecutive weekly/monthly
§ 14-1211(A)(1) (Conv. Surcharge) ~  $100 ~§ JOCS~ pmis. of $ beginning
§ 14-1:211(A)(2) (DUI Surcharge) $100 § . .
8 56-5-2995 (DUI Assessment) $12 7§ $ — paid to Public Defender Fund
§ 56-1-286 (DUI Breath Test) - $25 7§ Other:
Proviso 47.9 (Public Def/Prob) $500 $
§ 14-1-212 (Law Enforce. Funding) $25 S H—
§ 14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge) $150 SO —
§ 50-21-114(BUI Breath Test Fee) $50 S
B 56-5-2942(J) (Vehicle Assessment) $40/ea § [1 Appointed PD or appointed other coursel,
Praviso 90.5 (SCCIA Surcharge) $5 $ B~ § 47.12 requires $500. i
3% to County (if paid in installments) $ during probation.
TOTAL $ -
. *p Presiding Judge
Clerk of Court/ Deputy Clerk Judge Code:
Court Reporter: Log K oAt Sentence Date: 5-21- =3

SCCA/217(03/2011)
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*14:59:20 Tuesday, April 14, 2015

CMTI330D SCDC OFFENDER MANAGEMENT SYSTEM : 04/14/15
OMCOMITA RELEASE DATE SCREEN C056427
SCDCH# > 288558 ‘ . LOC: KERSHAW
DAVIS JR, DENNIS RODGER SCDC CLASSIFICATION..: VIOLENT
OFFENDER TYPE...: ADULT-STRAIGHT SENTENCE SEXUAL REGISTRY..: N

SEXUAL PREDATOR..: NOT APP

DNA STATUS.......: COMPLETED

GPS REQUIREMENT..: N
PREA DECISION....:

CURRENT SENTENCE: 010-05-000 ‘ CONSECUTIVE SENTENCE ..: N
010-05-000 CURRENT SENT START DATE: 05/19/2014
PROJECTED COMPLETION DATES o :
MAXOUT DATE .,....: 03/24/2023 CURRENT EWC .7 2 F 5
YOA SIX YEAR DATE: { / CURRENT EEC .: NOT CURRENTLY EARNING EEC

INITIAL PAROLE DATE: 05/05/2016 NEXT PAROLE HEARING DATE: 05/05/2016

TOTAL GT DAYS EARNED .......: 060000 LABOR CREW/WORK PROG DATE: 99/99/9999
TOTAL EARNED WORK CREDITS ..: 000116 LABCR CREW DISQ REASON:

TOTAL EDUCATION CREDITS ....: 000000 CATEGORY 4 OR 5 OFFENSE

TOTAL EXTRA EARNED CREDITS .: 000 SUPERVISED REENTRY DATE..: 00/00/00
TOTAL SERVICE TIME EARNED ..: 000325 T

PFKEYS: 5:HISTORY OF DATE CHANGES




Classihg Summary Reports - Report View

South Carolina Department of Corrections

Classification Summary Reports Date: Tuesday, Apil 14, 2015 -

Classification Summary Reports

Inmate Number |288558 J

lassification Summary Report for DAVIS JR, DENNIS RODGER :

SCDC# . 00288558

PREVIOUS NUMBERS:

CLASSIFICATION SUMMARY REPORT DATED 04/14/2015
FBI# 580904RB2

OFFENDER ADULT-STRAIGHT RESIDENT NA

TYPE: SENTENCE STABILITY:

INSTITUTION: KERSHAW DORMROOMBUNK_CODE: PA 0023 X
SECURITY/CUST: 2 MININMUM IN II;FI{\E])_JEII‘GAXOUT 03/24/2023

CURRINCARC 10YRS5MOSOC

SENT: DAYS PROJ PAROLE DATE: 05/05/2016

EWC JOB: WARDKEEPER
ASSIGNMENT: BUILDING #2
EWC
- "LEVEL!
INST F 3 —
RESTRICT: EDUC

" PGM:
MENTAL #
CLASS: )
CURRENT NO CURRENT
PROGRAM: PROGRAM

SEX REGISTRY: N
DNA: C

vICTIN . S—
WITNESS:
MED  MED PROB/NO WORK

CLASS: RESTRICT -2F5 EEC LEVEL:

NO CURR EDUC PROGRAM

AGE: 32

*NO PREVIOUS NUMBERS*

. . SENTENCE SENTENCE
CURRENT OFFENSES YRS MOS DYS  COUNTY START V/NV CAT INDICT
MDP NARC SCHED-3RD,SUBSE 10 5 0. YORK 05/19/2014 N 3 .13GS4602971

https://sword.doc.state.sc.us/classing-reports/summaryReports.do 4/14/2015

Page 1 of4
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PREVIOUS ASSAULTIVE DISCIPLINARIES:

Classing Summary Reports - Report View "~
MDP NARC SCHED-3RD,SUBSE 10 5 0 YORK
MARIJUANA POSSESS 1 o 0 YORK
DIS/SELL/PUR CON SUB SCH 5 0 0 YORK
DIS/SELL/PUR CON SUB SCH 5 0 0 YORK
|
| SENTENCE

COMPLETED OFFENSES YRS’ MOS DYS  COUNTY
MARIJUANA POSSESS 1} 0 0 YORK
CARRY PROHIBITED WEAPON 1; 0 0 YORK
POSSESSION OF WEAPON 4 0 0  YORK
POSSESSION OF WEAPON 4! 0 0 YORK
POINTING A FIREARM 4 o 0 YORK
MARIJUANA POSSESS 0 o0 30  YORK
TRAF CRACK(10-28G,1ST) 5 0 0 YORK
CRACK DISTR PROX SCHOOL 5 0 0 YORK
PRIOR COMMITMENTS OVER 90 DAYS:

*INMATE HAS NO PRIORS*
OFFENSES UNDER PREVIOUS NUMBER:

*NO PREVIOUS OFFENSES*
DETAINERS (HOLD,WANTED,NOTIFY):

*NO DETAINERS*
ESCAPES: _
10/31/2013 OTHER ESCAPE RELATED *
08/01/2013 ++ - OTHER ESCAPE RELATED
CRIMINAL CHARGES: '

*NO CRIMINAL CHARGES HISTORY*
ASSAULTIVE DISCIPLINARIES:

*NO ASSAULTIVE DISCIPLINARY HISTORY*

*NO PREVIOUS ASSAULTIVE DISCIPLINARY HISTORY*
NON-ASSAULTIVE DISCIPLINARIES:

06/29/2014
03/18/2005
08/22/2004
03/24/2004
02/23/2004
12/27/2003
09/15/2003
09/01/2003
06/23/2003
06/03/2003
05/23/2003
05/16/2003
05/11/2003
05/05/2003
04/28/2003

DISORDERLY CONDUCT |
VIOLATIONS WRITE/POST INST RULES
VIOLATIONS WRITE/POST INST RULES
VIOLATIONS WRITE/POST INST RULES
VIOLATIONS WRITE/POST INST RULES
CREATING UNNECESSARY NOISE
VIOLATIONS WRITE/POST INST RULES
OUT OF PLACE |
VIOLATIONS WRITE/POST INST RULES
DISRESPECT |
VIOLATIONS WRITE/POST INST RULES
REFUSING OR FAILING OBE;Y ORDERS
CREATING UNNECESSARY NOISE

OUT OF PLACE

USE OBSCENE,VULGAR,PROFANE LANG/GESTURES

CONVICTED ADMINISTRATIVE RESOLUTION

CLOSED OTHER ACTION TAKEN/INFORM
CLOSED OTHER ACTION TAKEN/INFORM
CLOSED OTHER ACTION TAKEN/INFORM
DISMISSED MINOR DISC. HEARING

CLOSED OTHER ACTION TAKEN/INFORM
CLOSED OTHER ACTION TAKEN/INFORM
CLOSED OTHER ACTION TAKEN/INFORM
CLOSED OTHER ACTION -TAKEN/INFORM
CONVICTED MINOR DISC, HEARING

CLOSED OTHER ACTION TAKEN/INFORM
CLOSED OTHER ACTION TAKEN/INFORM
DISMISSED MINOR DISC, HEARING

CLOSED OTHER ACTION TAKEN/INFORM
CONVICTED MINOR DISC, HEARING

https://sword.doc.state.sc.us/classing—reports/smnmaryReports.do

Page 2 of 4
05/18/2014 N 3  13GS46(2970
05/19/2014 N 2 13GS460294
05/19/2014 N 3  13GS4602966
05/19/2014 N 3  13GS4602969
SENTENCE

START

02/27/2009 N 2 08GS4604153
11/04/2002 N 3  02GS46-1929
11/04/2002 N 3- 02GS46-1930
11/04/2002 N 3  02GS46-1928
11/04/2002 N 3  02GS46-1927
10/24/2002 N 2 02GS46-2406
10/24/2002V 4 02GS46-2404
10/24/2002 N 2  02GS46-2405

V/NV CAT INDICT

4/14/2015




' ‘Classing Summary Reports - R_epo_rt_ 'yie,w

04/21/2003
04/10/2003
04/03/2003
‘1 04/03/2003
03/27/2003
03/22/2003
03/17/2003
03/13/2003
03/11/2003
02/28/2003
02/24/2003
02/12/2003
02/07/2003
02/02/2003
02/02/2003
01/22/2003
01/17/2003
01/08/2003
12/12/2002

HISTORY. OF MOVEMENTS:
07/17/2014 KERSHAW
05/27/2014 KIRKLAND
09/01/2009 UNK
04/02/2009 BROAD RIVER
03/10/2009 KIRKLAND
08/01/2005 UNK
12/29/2004 NORTHSIDE
12/08/2004 KIRKLAND
10/14/2004 YORK CO PN DF
09/01/2004 NORTHSIDE
09/01/2004 PERRY
04/01/2004 NORTHSIDE
04/01/2004 TYGER RIVER
02/05/2004 NORTHSIDE
12/03/2002 TRENTEN
11/07/2002 KIRKLAND

VIOLATIONS WRITE/POST INST RULES
VIOLATIONS WRITE/POST INST RULES
VIOLATIONS WRITE/POST INST RULES
VIOLATIONS WRITE/POST INST RULES
VIOLATIONS WRITE/POST INST RULES
VIOLATIONS WRITE/POST INST RULES
VIOLATIONS WRITE/POST INST RULES
VIOLATIONS WRITE/POST INST RULES
VIOLATIONS WRITE/POST INST RULES
VIOLATIONS WRITE/POST INST RULES
REFUSING TO ATTEND COMPULSORY PROGRAM
REFUSING TO ATTEND COMPULSORY PROGRAM
OUT OF PLACE '
VIOLATIONS WRITE/POST INST RULES
REFUSING OR FAILING OBEY ORDERS
OUT OF PLACE
VIOLATIONS WRITE/POST INST RULES
DISRESPECT
REFUSING OR FAILING OBEY ORDERS

PREVIOUS NON-ASSAULTIVE DISCIPLINARIES:
*NO PREVIOUS NON-ASSAULTIVE DISCIPLINARIES HISTORY*

INCARCERATED
INCARCERATED
RELEASE

INCARCERATED
INCARCERATED
RELEASE

INCARCERATED
INCARCERATED
INCARCERATED
INCARCERATED
INCARCERATED
INCARCERATED
INCARCERATED
INCARCERATED
INCARCERATED
INCARCERATED

HISTORY OF EARNED WORK CREDIT ASSIGNMENTS:

JOB DESCRIPTION START DATE END DATE
WARDKEEPER 07/22/2014 -

STOP PROGRAM 04/25/2002 09/01/2009
LAUNDRY WORKER 12/30/2004 08/01/2005
DESIGNATED FACILITY 10/15/2004 12/08/2004
LAUNDRY WORKER 02/24/2004 10/14/2004
WARDKEEPER 02/10/2004 02/23/2004
LAUNDRY HELPER 01/09/2004 02/05/2004
LAUNDRY HELPER 01/02/2004 01/08/2004
LAUNDRY HELPER 07/25/2003 01/01/2004

CLOSED
CONVICTED
CONVICTED
CLOSED

CLOSED

CLOSED

CONVICTED
CONVICTED
CONVICTED
CONVICTED
CONVICTED
DISMISSED
DISMISSED
CONVICTED
CONVICTED
CONVICTED
CONVICTED
CONVICTED
CONVICTED

119

Page 3 of 4

OTHER ACTION TAKEN/INFORM

MINOR DISC. HEARING
MINOR DISC. HEARING

OTHER ACTION TAKEN/INFORM
OTHER ACTION TAKEN/INFORM
OTHER ACTION TAKEN/INFORM

MINOR DISC. HEARING
MINOR DISC. HEARING
MINOR DISC. HEARING
MINOR DISC. HEARING
MINOR DISC. HEARING
MINOR DISC. HEARING

CHARGES DROPPED/INSUFF. E

MINOR DISC. HEARING
MINOR DISC. HEARING
MINOR DISC. HEARING
MAJOR DISC. HEARING
MINOR DISC. HEARING
MINOR DISC. HEARING

ADMINISTRATIVE

NEW ADMISSION
EXPIRATION OF SENTENCE "
ADMINISTRATIVE

NEW ADMISSION -
EXPIRATION OF SENTENCE
ADMINISTRATIVE
ADMINISTRATIVE
ADMINISTRATIVE
ADMINISTRATIVE
COURT/PAROLE HEARING VIA
ADMINISTRATIVE

MEDICAL

ADMINISTRATIVE
ADMINISTRATIVE
NEW ADMISSION

TERMINATION REASON JOB LVL
2F5
RELEASED/PAROLED 2F5
RELEASED/PAROLED 2F5
DISCIPLINARY/LOCK-UP 2F7
INSTIT TRANSFER 2F5
UNSAT JOB PERFORM 2F5
INSTIT TRANSFER 2F5
MI ELIGIBLE FOR LEVEL 2 3F5
ASLT/DRUG/MAIOR DISC 2F5
4/14/2015

https://sword.doc.state.éc.us/classing-reports/summaryRepo.rts.do
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LAUNDRY HELPER
LAUNDRY HELPER

EEC DESCRIPTION

BONUS 12-14 HR/WK

'LVL 2 - FULL TIME(NO EWC)
LVL 3 - FULL TIME(NO EWC)

. Classing Smnmary.—keports - Report View

Source : SummaryReport.jsp

04/10/2003 07/24/2003

04/02/2003 04/06/2003

|

HISTORY OF EARNED EDUCATION CREDITS:

START DATE
103/08/2004
12/05/2002

12/04/2002

**:‘k******* END OF REPORT ***%¥*%%%k%kx

Page 4 of 4
MI ELIGIBLE FOR LEVEL 2 3F5
PLACED IN ST/SP CUSTODY 3F5
END DATE TERMINATION REASON
. 10/14/2004  INSTIT TRANSFER -
03/26/2003  COMPLETED EDUC PROGRAM
12/04/2002  CUSTODY REVIEW
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